### An assessment of factors affecting the likelihood of horizontal transfer of recombinant plant DNA to bacterial recipients in the soil and phytosphere

Kaare M. Nielsen, Ph. D.

Department of Pharmacy, University of Tromso, N9037 Tromso, Norway and the Norwegian Institute of Gene Ecology, N9037 Tromso, Norway. knielsen@farmasi.uit.no

### Abstract

The unintended transfer of plant transgenes to bacteria would result in the uncontrolled dispersal of the engineered genes to new hosts, and, in the case of antibiotic resistance marker genes, impede clinical treatment of bacterial infections. However the potential impact of gene transfer from plants to bacteria should be a concern for any released transgene that possesses unique characteristics in the environment.

The plant phytosphere is heavily colonised with bacteria that may be exposed to transgenic plant DNA when released from the plant. However the uptake of plant transgenes in natural populations of bacteria in the phytosphere remains to be demonstrated.

The main factors affecting a stable horizontal gene transfer (HGT) of plant transgenes to bacteria are the following: (i) availability of plant DNA to competent bacteria in the field, (ii) ability of bacteria to translocate plant DNA into the bacterial cytoplasm, (iii) stabilization of plant DNA in the bacterial recipient, (iv) expression of plant transgenes in the bacterial transformant, and (v) selection of transformants in a fitness landscape.

Analysing the likelihood of HGT of plant transgenes to soil bacteria, an impact of the *cry*, *pat*, *bar*, CaMV sequences, and EPSPS encoding plant transgenes has not been identified in the soil, with the exception of some antibiotic resistance marker genes.

The laboratory investigations that have exposed various bacterial recipients to transgenic plant DNA have confirmed the dependency of DNA sequence homology for integration (via homologous recombination), suggesting that the presence of such homologous sequences may facilitate the transfer of engineered plant genes into bacteria. Such recombination, however, has not been demonstrated.

#### Riassunto

Il trasferimento occasionale di transgeni dalla pianta a batteri potrebbe dare origine alla passaggio non controllato dei geni ingegnerizzati verso nuovi ospiti, e, nel caso di geni marcatori per la resistenza agli antibiotici, ostacolare il trattamento clinico delle infezioni batteriche. Comunque

l'impatto potenziale del trasferimento di geni dalle piante ai batteri dovrebbe essere considerato seriamente per qualsiasi transgene rilasciato che possieda caratteristiche uniche nell'ambiente.

La fitosfera delle piante e' colonizzata pesantemente da batteri che in questo modo possono essere esposti al DNA della pianta transgenica qualora questo venisse rilasciato dalla pianta stessa. Resta comunque ancora da dimostrare l'acquisizione dei transgeni provenienti da piante modificate, da parte di popolazioni naturali di batteri nella fitosfera.

I principali fattori che influenzano uno stabile trasferimento orizzontale di geni dalla pianta ai batteri sono i seguenti: (i) disponibilità del DNA della pianta per batteri competenti presenti nel campo, (ii) capacità dei batteri di trasferire il DNA della pianta nel loro citoplasma, (iii) stabilizzazione del DNA della pianta nel batterio ricevente, (iv) espressione dei transgeni della pianta nei transformanti batterici, (v) selezione dei transformanti nel particolare panorama adattativo ambientale.

Analizzando la probabilita' del trasferimento di transgeni da una pianta ai batteri del suolo, non e' stato identificato alcun impatto nel suolo delle sequenze dei geni cry, pat, bar, CaMV, ed EPSPS, con l'eccezione di alcuni geni marcatori per la resistenza ad antibiotici.

Indagini di laboratorio in cui dei batteri vengono esposti al DNA proveniente da una pianta transgenica hanno confermato la dipendenza dell'integrazione dall'omologia tra sequenze di DNA (via ricombinazione omologa), suggerendo che la presenza di tali sequenze omologhe possa facilitare il trasferimento dei geni della pianta ingegnerizzata ai batteri. Tale ricombinazione non è comunque stata ancora dimostrata.

### Technical report

### Preface

This report has been requested by the International Centre for Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology (ICGEB), Area Science Park, Padriciano 99, I-34012 Trieste, Italy, to summarize the scientific knowledge on horizontal gene transfer in soil bacteria with specific reference to the putative transfer of genes from transgenic crop plants expressing resistance to the herbicides glufosinate or glyphosate, insect resistance (Bt-toxin) or viral sequences from cauliflower mosaic virus. Although great care has been taken, errors or omissions in the text may occur. The views expressed in this publication are those of the author and do not necessarily reflect the views of ICGEB.

For additional information about the subjects covered in this report, the reader is referred to the following overviews on biosafety aspects of transgenic plants and horizontal transfer of plant transgenes to bacteria and gene transfer between bacteria: Tiedje et al., 1989, Fry and Day 1990, Heinemann, 1991, 1997, Ginzburg, 1991, Veal et al., 1992, Wellington and van Elsas, 1992, Amábile-Cuevas and Chicurel, 1993, Kidwell, 1993, Kok et al., 1994, Lorenz and Wackernagel, 1994, Paget and Simonet, 1994, Syvanen, 1994, Landsmann and Casper, 1995, Smalla, 1995, 2000, Trevors and van Elsas, 1995, Tzotzos, 1995, Harding, 1996, Schlüter and Potrykus, 1996, Kruse and Jansson, 1997, Wöstemayer et al., 1997, Yin and Stotzky, 1997, Ljungquist et al., 1998, Dröge et al., 1998, 1999, Nielsen, 1998, Nielsen et al., 1998, 2000, 2001, Nielsen and Townsend, 2001, Bertolla and Simonet, 1999, Doolittle, 1999, Davison, 1999, Campbell, 2000, Ochman et al., 2000, Feil et al., 2001.

Kaare M. Nielsen, Ph.D. Department of Pharmacy, University of Tromso, N9037 Tromso, Norway. Tel. + 47 77 646165, Fax. + 47 77 646151, Email. knielsen@farmasi.uit.no.

### **Executive summary**<sup>1</sup>

The application of gene technology in plant breeding holds great promise for the future. However, concerns about possible health and environmental impacts of the technology have resulted in the enforcement of extensive governmental regulations to ensure that the novel crop varieties are as safe as their traditionally bred counterparts. The likelihood and consequences of horizontal transfer of engineered genes from transgenic plants to microorganisms are frequently evaluated in such regulatory risk assessments preceding field release. It has been proposed that the unintended transfer of plant transgenes to bacteria would result in the uncontrolled dispersal of the engineered genes to new hosts, and, in the case of antibiotic resistance marker genes, impede clinical treatment of bacterial infections. It is noted that this is a concern based on precaution since it is the overuse of antibiotics that has been identified as the major cause of the resistance problems seen today. Nevertheless, much of the discussion of potential impacts of gene transfers from plants to bacteria have been focused on the impact of antibiotic resistance markers since plant markers encoding antibiotic resistance are the most commonly occurring transgenes in commercialized genetically modified plants (GMPs). However, a similar assessment of ecological and evolutionary impact should be applied to any released transgenes that possess unique or undesired selectable characteristics in the environment.

In this report, the factors influencing the bacterial utilization of horizontally transferred DNA are assessed with emphasis on the probability of transfer of plant transgenes to bacteria. The impact of plant transgenes conferring either antibiotic, herbicide, insect or viral sequences, if transferred to indigenous bacteria in soil, is assessed based on the following factors:

1. Knowledge of the prevalence, population dynamics and transfer of naturally occurring homologues of the transgene in the environment.

2. Identification of alternative exposure sources of the transgene homologues introduced in the same environment.

3. Evaluation of selective pressure (agents) and potential fitness advantage conferred by the novel plant transgene if transferred to a bacterial host. Moreover, knowledge gained from the experimental investigations conducted to detect the occurrence of such transfers are presented and discussed.

**Chapter 2** defines horizontal gene transfer and lists recent literature that emphasize the importance of gene flow in bacterial communities. The

known mechanisms of horizontal gene transfer between bacteria and their relevance to the transfer of recombinant plant DNA to bacteria are reviewed. The natural host ranges of both conjugation and transduction are confined mainly to bacterial donors and recipients, and further limited by the transfer and stabilization functions of the replicon of the mobile conjugative elements or bacteriophages. It appears that only natural transformation, the uptake of extracellular DNA by bacteria, could facilitate HGT from plants. The occurrence of bacterial gene transfer in the phytosphere is briefly reviewed. It is concluded that the phytosphere, including rhizosphere (plant root surfaces), aerial plant surfaces, and plant tissues, all are heavily colonized with bacteria which are candidates for exposure to transgenic plant DNA released from the plant during cell decomposition, cell lysis induced by plant pathogens, or after the mechanical disruption of plant tissue caused by insect larvae, aphids or nematodes. However, the uptake of plant transgenes in natural populations of bacteria residing in the phytosphere remains to be demonstrated.

**Chapter 3** identifies the main factors that limit stable HGT of plant transgenes to bacterial recipients. Several barriers (Chapter 3.1 to 3.5) representing both environmental (DNA availability, physiological competence development, fitness advantages) and cellular parameters (e.g. sequence specific DNA uptake and factors affecting integration and expression of the translocated DNA) have been identified that may determine the probability of an unintended transfer and stabilization of plant transgenes in bacteria. In the following, each of these barriers are briefly discussed.

### (i) Availability of plant DNA to competent bacteria in the field

Although the majority of plant DNA in decaying plants is rapidly broken down by plant or microbial DNases, fragments of plant DNA have been shown, by PCR, to persist under field conditions for several months and even up to years. The availability of this persistent DNA to competent bacteria remains to be demonstrated. The dynamics of the release, stability, and bacterial availability of plant DNA in specific microhabitats in the phytosphere such as within the rhizosphere, on leaf surfaces and in plant tissues have not been described or quantified.

## (ii) Ability of bacteria to translocate plant DNA into the bacterial cytoplasm

As many bacteria do not discriminate between the type of DNA they translocate over the bacterial membrane, it is reasonable to assume

that competent bacteria are exposed to plant transgenes to the same extent as to other plant DNA. Although positive results have been obtained *in vitro*, the ability of bacteria to take up plant DNA that is naturally released *in situ* e.g. in soil or *in planta*, has not been shown. Information on the general composition, dynamics and succession of bacterial communities in the phytosphere of various agriculturally grown plants needs to be further determined and understood before the potential bacterial recipient populations of plant transgenes in these habitats can be identified.

### (iii) Stabilization of plant DNA in the bacterial recipient

The stability of translocated plant DNA in the bacterial cytoplasm would depend on its susceptibility to fragmentation and degradation by bacterial enzymes and on whether it is integrated into the bacterial chromosome or into a plasmid. The action of bacterial restriction enzymes on plant DNA is probably insignificant since DNA is likely to translocate across bacterial membranes in a single-stranded form whereas bacterial restriction enzymes recognize and cleave only double-stranded DNA. Integration of the translocated plant DNA into bacterial DNA is dependent upon the degree of sequence homology between the incoming plant DNA and that of the bacterial recipient. For the uptake of heterologous DNA sequences in Escherichia coli, Bacillus subtilis and Streptococcus sp., a log-linear relationship between decreasing recombination frequencies and increasing DNA sequence divergence has been established. Thus, the overall low level of sequence homology between plant and bacterial DNA may naturally limit this type of horizontal gene transfer in nature. However, as argued below, transgenic plants may have increased levels of sequence homology to bacterial genomes due to the frequent bacterial origin of the functional transgene and co-transferred cloning vector sequences.

### (iv) Expression of plant transgenes in the bacterial transformant

The expression of the transferred plant transgene in the bacterial recipient would often be a prerequisite for a positive selection of the novel bacterial phenotype. Some of the promoters currently used to control the expression of plant transgenes are of prokaryotic origin and may therefore also be active in bacteria. Others are under control of plant promoters which may be non-functional in bacteria. Since most plant transgenes lack introns, there may be few constraints, other than codon usage, to the expression of plant transgenes in bacterial recipients, if transferred. This situation is expected to change as more eukaryotic promoters become available that direct expression of the

transgene to defined plant tissues only.

### (v) Selection of transformants in a fitness landscape

As argued in chapter 5.3, the frequency of HGT from plants to bacteria will be low. Thus, positive selection (and amplification) for the acquired trait would be required to generate a significant impact in the bacterial population. The prediction of selective advantages of plant transgenes in bacterial populations is hampered by a lack of understanding of the selective pressures on bacteria in complex natural environments such as soil. Risk assessment procedures should focus on identifying factors that may contribute to the selection of plant transgenes in bacterial populations. The impact of a transferred plant transgene in bacterial populations can only be properly understood and resolved in the context of its fitness advantages.

**Chapter 4** focuses on the likelihood of horizontal transfer of plant transgenes that encode resistance to antibiotics, the herbicides glufosinate or glyphosate, insects (Bt-toxin) or of cauliflower mosaic virus sequences to soil bacteria. The assessments focus on identifying the natural background level of these DNA sequences and alternative donors present in the soil. With the exception of some antibiotic resistance marker genes, an impact of the *cry*, *pat*, *bar*, CaMV sequences, and EPSPS encoding plant transgenes has not been identified in soil. A precise determination of the natural reservoirs of antibiotic resistance genes is necessary to resolve the concerns surrounding putative horizontal gene transfer (HGT) of plant-harbored antibiotic resistance markers to bacteria.

**Chapter 5** outlines the investigations done to identify putative HGT events from transgenic plants to bacteria. Three different approaches have been taken to elucidate the likelihood of such transfer. These approaches apply DNA sequence comparisons, screening of bacteria from field releases, and studies of gene transfer under optimized laboratory conditions, and their results are summarized below:

(i) DNA sequence comparisons of plant and bacterial genomes suggest few cases of horizontal transfer of plant genes to bacteria.

Suggested transfers of genes from plants (or other eukaryotes) to bacteria are controversial, and they are estimated to have occurred several million years ago. Recent whole-bacterial genome sequencing has suggested that up to 16% of protein-encoding DNA in bacteria has been horizontally acquired, but presumably from other bacterial

donors. Thus, whereas HGT between bacteria appears to be an important mechanism for bacterial evolution, the contribution of plant genes to bacterial evolution is minor, as judged from available data.

(ii) Horizontal transfer of plant marker genes to indigenous bacteria has not been demonstrated under field conditions.

The 3 published studies that have investigated bacterial isolates from field sites or soil microcosms exposed to transgenic plants (harboring antibiotic resistance markers) have not been able to demonstrate the presence of the plant transgenes in the indigenous bacteria examined.

- (iii) Horizontal transfer of plant marker genes to naturally occurring competent bacteria under optimized laboratory conditions
- 1. Using recipient bacteria with no defined sequence homology to the plant transgene.

The 4 *in vitro* studies performed, exposing the bacteria *Escherichia coli*, *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*, *Erwinia chrysanthemi*, and *Acinetobacter* sp. to plant marker genes have not been able to demonstrate such transfer. The investigations were performed both *in vitro* and in the natural habitats of some of the bacteria e.g. within tobacco crown galls or infected potato tubers. The detection limits varied from 10<sup>-9</sup> to 10<sup>-12</sup> (transformants per recipient) with proposed upper levels of transfer under natural conditions of 10<sup>-16</sup> to 10<sup>-20</sup> transformants per recipient bacterium.

2. Using recipient bacteria with inserted sequence homology to the plant transgene.

Several studies performed with the soil bacterium Acinetobacter sp. BD413 have demonstrated that this transformable bacterium is able to take up plant marker fragments if sequence homology to the bacterial recipient is present in the plant DNA. The transformation frequencies ranged from 10<sup>-7</sup> to 10<sup>-8</sup> (transformants per recipient) *in vitro* and in sterile soil. Similar frequencies have been reached using *Pseudomonas stutzeri*. A similar uptake of plant marker genes, based on incorporated homology to bacterial DNA, could not be shown in transformable cells of the plant pathogenic bacterium *Ralstonia solanacearum* neither *in vitro* or *in planta* during infection.

The laboratory investigations that have exposed various bacterial recipients to transgenic plant DNA have confirmed the dependency of linked DNA sequence homology for integration (via homologous

recombination). As indicated in chapter 3.3, due to the nature of the genetic modifications introduced in transgenic plants, e.g., the insertion of bacterial vector and plasmid sequences, T-DNA border sequences, bacterial or viral promoters and the choice of bacterial protein coding genes, sequence homology to prokaryotic DNA will be present. It has been suggested that the presence of such homologous sequences may facilitate the transfer of engineered plant genes into bacteria. Such recombination of plant transgenes with flanking bacterial sequence homology into naturally occurring bacterial populations has, however, not been demonstrated.

**Chapter 6** provides conclusions and suggestions for the further research that is necessary to clarify possible impacts of plant transgenes in the bacterial gene pool. There are no reports of unintended transfer of plant transgenes to bacteria that are present in the environment. The main barrier to such transfer seems to be caused by the lack of sequence homology between the plant and bacterial DNA. Using purified DNA, it has been demonstrated that soil bacteria such as Acinetobacter sp., and P. stutzeri can take up and integrate plant marker gene fragments if sequence homology is present. The release of transgenic plants harboring prokaryotic DNA sequences may facilitate HGT of plant transgenes to bacteria. Few data are available on the significance of gene transfers by natural transformation in the phytosphere. However, a rare transfer event in this environment would only be environmentally significant if positively selected. The prediction of fitness advantages of bacterial transformants is hampered by the limited understanding of selection pressures in the soil environment. The assessments of a gene's selective advantages would be enhanced by knowledge of the natural occurrence and alternative exposure sources of the gene or its homologues.

### Table of contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Horizontal gene transfer importance in bacterial communities
- 2.1 Known mechanisms of horizontal gene transfer between bacteria and their relevance to the transfer of recombinant plant DNA to bacteria
- **2.2** Aerial plant surfaces
- **2.3** Plant tissues
- 2.4 Soil and on plant root surfaces
- **2.5** HGT between bacteria colonizing the digestive tract of plantassociated insects
- **3.** Factors affecting the likelihood of HGT from plants to bacteria in the phytosphere
- 3.1 Stability and availability of plant DNA
- 3.2 Bacterial uptake of DNA by natural transformation
- 3.3 Stability of translocated chromosomal DNA in bacterial transformants
- **3.4** Expression of heterologous DNA in bacterial transformants
- **3.5** Selection and environmental impact of bacterial transformants
- 4. The characteristics of specific transgenes and their natural occurrence
- **4.1** Antibiotic resistance marker genes
- 4.2 Bt-toxin encoding genes
- **4.3** Genes encoding tolerance to glyphosate
- **4.4** Genes conferring tolerance to glufosinate
- 4.5 Cauliflower mosaic virus (CaMV) sequences
- 5. Investigations of HGT from transgenic plants to bacteria
- **5.1** Comparisons of known plant and bacterial DNA sequences for an assessment of recent horizontal transfer events.
- **5.2** Screening of bacterial isolates or total-DNA of the bacterial fraction of the phytosphere for the acquisition of transgenes from field grown transgenic plants.
- **5.3** Investigation of HGT from transgenic plants to defined model bacteria under optimized laboratory conditions.
- 6. Conclusions and further studies
- 7. References

### **Abbreviations**

HGT; horizontal gene transfer, GMP; genetically modified (transgenic) plant, PCR; polymerase chain reaction, transgene; genetically modified DNA inserted into an organism.

### 1. Introduction

The agricultural use of genetically modified plants (GMPs) has generated concerns over the potential environmental and ecological impact of the

engineered genes. One impact scenario is based on the hypothesis that if the plant transgenes are taken up by bacteria, the engineered genes may be disseminated into the environment with unknown consequences as the fitness advantages of these genes in new hosts are unknown. The frequent use of genes encoding antibiotic resistance as markers in GMP has strengthened these concerns based on the hypothesis that a transfer of such resistance genes to bacteria may ultimately impede clinical treatment of bacterial infections (Kruse and Jansson, 1997). Proponents of the usage of resistance encoding marker genes argue that no naturally occurring events of such transfer from the plants have been detected and that the consequences of a rare transfer would be negligible since similar genes are already present in bacterial communities and that the resistance they encode can be overcome by the use of alternative antibiotics. It has therefore been difficult to reach scientific, regulatory and public consensus about the validity of these concerns. One side argues the lack of information ensuring their safety, whereas the other side argues the lack of information demonstrating a risk. Since the use of antibiotic resistance genes are not strictly required for the production of transgenic plants, their presence in the commercialized products have been questioned and the use of alternative marker technology and minimizing the size and number of inserts have been encouraged (see Fairbairn et al., 2000).

In this report we summarize some of the scientific data and identify gaps in the information used for the current risk assessment of plant transgenes and the likelihood of transgene transfer to bacterial recipients.

#### 2. Horizontal gene transfer – importance in bacterial communities

Horizontal gene transfer (HGT) is the transfer of genetic material by means other than normal reproductive mechanisms between individual organisms that may not be related. HGT can take place between organisms of different genotype, species, genus, kingdom and domain. Whereas HGTs between related organisms such as bacterial species, genera and divisions are facilitated at relatively high frequencies due to the presence of mobile DNA sequences or high DNA sequence homology, naturally occurring HGTs between distantly related organisms are rarely detected. Usually, HGT is unidirectional and only results in the transfer of a small part of the genome from one organism to the other. Horizontal gene transfer has been important for bacterial evolution and events of HGT between bacteria have been extensively demonstrated both *in vitro* and in natural systems (Fry and Day 1990, Veal et al., 1992, Wellington and van Elsas, 1992, Trevors and van Elsas, 1995, Yin and Stotzky, 1997, Kroll et al., 1998, Davison, 1999, Dröge et al., 1999). From recent whole-genome sequencing of bacteria it has been estimated that up to 16 % of their protein coding DNA has been horizontally acquired (Ochman et al., 2000). More detailed analyses of DNA sequences within bacterial genes also support the notion that horizontal transfer of DNA between bacterial species is an important mechanism for bacterial evolution (Dowson et al., 1989, 1990, 1997, Spratt et al., 1989, 1992, Coffey et al., 1993, Maynard Smith et al., 1993, Bowler et al., 1994, Guttman and Dykhuizen, 1994, Nelson and Selander, 1994, Kapur et al., 1995, Feil et al., 1996, Zhou et al., 1997).

**2.1 Known mechanisms of horizontal gene transfer between bacteria and their relevance to the transfer of recombinant plant DNA to bacteria** Gene transfer mechanisms in plants that facilitate horizontal transfer of genes, gene fragments or non-encoding DNA sequences to bacteria have not been identified. The assessment of the likelihood of HGT from plants to bacteria has therefore been based on the known mechanisms promoting HGT within the eubacterial division. Three mechanisms have been identified in bacteria that can mediate HGT (Lorenz and Wackernagel, 1994, Dröge et al., 1998, Davison, 1999). These mechanisms are transduction, conjugation and natural transformation. In the following, the relevance of these mechanisms in promoting putative HGT from plants

**General transduction.** The accidental transfer of DNA between bacterial cells due to bacteriophage infections, has been shown to facilitate HGT between bacterial populations residing on plant leaf surfaces, in soil or water (Saye et al., 1987, Zeph et al., 1988, Herron and Wellington, 1994, Kidambi et al., 1994, Herron, 1995). Bacteriophages generally possess a relatively narrow host range and viruses that infect both plants and bacteria have not been identified. Thus, the likelihood that transduction mediates HGT from plants to bacteria is currently assessed to be very low.

to bacteria is assessed.

**Conjugation.** the transfer of mobile sequences (plasmids, transposons and mobilized chromosomal genes) between bacterial cells can mediate HGT between bacterial populations in soil and rhizosphere, on plant surfaces, and in water (Van Elsas et al., 1988, Lilley and Bailey, 1997, Troxler et al., 1997, Bjorklof et al., 1995, Normander et al., 1998). However, to our knowledge, mobile sequences that support conjugative gene transfer from higher plants to bacteria are not known, and transposons that function in both plants and prokaryotes have not been identified. However, the potential broad-host range of conjugation is demonstrated by the plant pathogen *Agrobacterium* spp. which during infection transfer defined

plasmid fragments, called T-DNA, from their Ti and Ri plasmids, into the plant genome by a conjugation-like mechanism. Since the host range of mobile plant sequences often are limited and plasmids are absent in plants (with the exception of plant organelles), the likelihood that conjugation mediates HGT from plants to bacteria is considered very low.

Natural transformation is the regulated uptake of extracellular DNA in bacteria (Lorenz and Wackernagel., 1994, Paget and Simonet, 1994). Since competent bacterial species can take up naked DNA independently of its sequence, natural transformation can in theory facilitate horizontal transfer of plant DNA to bacterial recipients the environment (Nielsen et al., 1997ab, 2000ab). Natural transformation, resulting in new selectable phenotypes has been shown to occur in soil, in plants and in water when competent bacterial recipients are exposed to bacterial donor DNA, either as purified DNA, in cell lysates or from added viable cells (Lee and Stotzky, 1990, 1999, Williams et al., 1996, Nielsen et al., 1997ab, 2000ab, Nielsen and van Elsas, 2001, Bertolla et al., 1997, 1999, 2000, Paget and Simonet, 1997, Sikorski et al., 1998). The ability to take up naked DNA by natural transformation has been detected in over 43 bacterial species distributed among all major bacterial divisions of life (Lorenz and Wackernagel, 1994, Paget and Simonet, 1994). Also the commonly used model bacterium Escherichia coli has been found to be naturally transformable (Baur et al., 1997). The number of known transformable species is still likely to be an underestimate due to the failure to cultivate the bacteria and to identify the conditions needed for competence to develop. Thus, transformation is currently regarded as being the most likely mechanism for the transfer of DNA from plants to bacteria, although such transfer has so far only been demonstrated in the laboratory with two species of bacteria.

The plant environment offers a highly diverse habitat for microorganisms and it is heavily colonized by microbial communities present in the rhizosphere, the phyllosphere and within plant tissues reaching densities of 10<sup>4</sup> to 10<sup>8</sup> bacteria per g plant material or soil. Also the digestive system of many plant-associated insects such as protozoa, nematodes, insect larvae, and earthworms contain high numbers of bacteria. In addition, dispersed leafs, fruits, pollen, and seeds provide additional microbial habitats.

Few studies of horizontal gene transfer in the phytosphere have been undertaken. However, both conjugation, transduction and transformation have been reported to occur between bacteria in the soil and plant environment. In sections 2.2 to 2.5 the capability of bacterial populations to mediate HGT in the plant environment will be discussed and the

potential of natural transformation of bacteria with genetic material derived from GMP host plants will be assessed. It is expected that bacteria in the phytosphere will be exposed to DNA of their host plant at various levels and quality depending on the specific habitat, as well as the growth stage and viability of the host organism.

### 2.2 Aerial plant surfaces

The leaves of agriculturally grown plants are colonized by bacteria (approx. 10<sup>4</sup> or more bacteria per g leaf material). Several studies have been conducted on gene transfer in the phyllosphere (Kidambi et al., 1994, Bjorklof et al., 1995, Lilley and Bailey, 1997, Normander et al., 1998) indicating that plant leaf surfaces may be conducive to horizontal gene transfer. For instance, conjugal gene transfer between bacteria has been observed on leaves of pear, bean, and sugar beet (Normander et al., 1998) and horizontal gene transfer from virus to bacteria by general transduction has been detected on the surface of bean and soybean leaves (Kidambi et al., 1994).

However, to our knowledge, no studies have been done to investigate the occurrence of natural transformation on aerial plant surfaces. Aerial plant surfaces may be exposed to DNA from lysed bacterial cells, transducing plant viruses and from the host plant itself during decomposition, pathogen induced lysis, or mechanical cell disruption caused by e.g. plant feeding insects, agricultural equipment, or animals. Thus, further investigations should be done to clarify the potential for horizontal gene transfer by natural transformation in this environment.

### 2.3 Plant tissues

Most plant tissues have been found to be colonized by bacterial endophytes ranging from  $10^3 - 10^6$  and even up to  $10^9$  bacteria per gram fresh weight tissue (Dimock et al., 1993, Hallmann et al., 1997). In addition, plant tissues infected by pathogenic bacteria can also reach high population densities (Schlüter et al., 1995, Bertolla et al., 1999, 2000). Few studies have investigated the occurrence of horizontal gene transfer by conjugation or transduction in plant tissues. Studies done on natural transformation is limited to one bacterial species. Bertolla et al. (1997, 1999, 2000) have studied conditions for natural transformation of the plant pathogenic bacterium *Ralstonia solanacearum* both *in vitro* and *in planta*. The bacterium developed competence in plant tissues, however, evidence for the stable uptake of transgenic plant DNA was not found in the experimental set-up used. As also indicated by Bertolla et al. 2000, bacterial communities residing in plant tissues are likely to be exposed to DNA of the host plant after e.g. cell lysis caused by viral, fungal or bacterial pathogen infection or mechanical disruption of the plant cell caused by e.g. plant feeding aphids or nematodes. The natural transformability of plant pathogenic bacteria and bacterial endophytes should be further investigated as these may reach high population densities within plant tissues and become exposed to freshly released plant DNA.

### 2.4 Soil and on plant root surfaces

112

Bacterial populations residing on the root surfaces of most agriculturally grown plants are exposed to exuded organic compounds including sugars, amino acids and organic acids which can stimulate bacterial activity and gene transfer (Nielsen and van Elsas, 2000). Several studies have shown that conjugation is induced in the rhizosphere of various agriculturally grown plants (Van Elsas et al., 1988, Lilley and Bailey, 1997, Troxler et al., 1997, Kroer et al., 1998). Gene transfer by transduction has been reported in non-sterile soil (Zeph et al., 1988) and natural transformation has been described in bulk soil under non-sterile conditions (Nielsen et al., 1997ab, Sikorski et al., 1998).

Most of the studies on HGT in soil by natural transformation has been done in microcosms, however, recently Fry and coworkers (2000) reported transformants of *Acinetobacter* spp. after exposure to bacterial DNA in the rhizosphere of field grown sugar beet plants. Development of competence in the *Acinetobacter* sp. BD413 was recently also found to be stimulated by compounds present in root exudates of various agriculturally grown plants (Nielsen and van Elsas, 2000). Bacterial communities residing in the rhizosphere are likely to be exposed to plant DNA released during root decomposition e.g. from shedded root cap cells, after lysis induced by plant pathogens, or after mechanical disruption caused by insect larvae and nematodes feeding on the roots. The knowledge of the potential of natural transformation to mediate HGT of plant genes to bacterial communities residing in soil and rhizosphere is limited.

## **2.5 HGT between bacteria colonizing the digestive tract of plant-associated insects**

The digestive system of protozoa, nematodes, insect larvae, and earthworms contain high numbers of bacteria (Thimm et al., 1998, Toyota and Kimura, 2000) and has been proposed to be a hotspot for gene transfer. For instance Adamo and Gealt (1996) detected conjugation in the gut of the *Rhabditis* nematodes, and Daane et al., (1996), reported significantly higher numbers of transconjugants in soil microcosms containing the earthworms *Lumbricus rubellus* or *Aporrectodea*  *trapeziodes* than in bulk soil. Schlimme et al. (1997) reported conjugation in digestive vacuoles of the protozoan *Tetrahymena pyriformis* and Hoffmann et al. (1998) reported conjugal gene transfer in the gut of the soil insect *Folsomia candida*.

Studies have not been published on the occurrence of natural transformation in the digestive system of these plant-associated organisms. The availability of plant DNA to microbial communities in these organisms should be further investigated together with a characterization of the bacterial communities present in these environments. Although not the topic of this report, it is noted that HGT of plant marker genes to intestinal bacteria of higher organisms has not been demonstrated so far (Stirn, 2000).

## **3.** Factors affecting the likelihood of HGT from plants to bacteria in the phytosphere

To avoid deleterious effects of frequent integration of foreign DNA into the bacterial genome, many factors are thought to limit the uptake of divergent DNA. In section 3.1-3.5 we discuss these factors which focus on those that may be of particular importance for the potential bacterial utilization of plant transgenes in soil and phytosphere. The major barrier to the horizontal transfer of plant DNA into bacteria is caused by the mechanisms restricting the integration of foreign DNA in the bacterial chromosome. Both constraints to heteroduplex formation and the action of methyl-directed DNA mismatch repair enzymes (mut genes) have been identified as important for the discrimination of foreign DNA (Vulic et al., 1997, Majewski et al., 1998, 2000). In addition, HGT from plants may be limited due to insufficient access to DNA, a time-limited expression of competence in the recipient bacterium and mechanisms ensuring sequence-specific uptake of DNA. Moreover, a limited ability of the transformed bacterium to express the acquired genetic trait or a neutral or negative selection of the bacterial transformant may result in an evolutionary insignificant transfer event.

### 3.1 Stability and availability of plant DNA

A limited release, stability and or availability of plant DNA in the phytosphere will reduce the likelihood of HGT to indigenous bacteria by natural transformation. The majority of plant DNA present in decaying plant material is expected to be rapidly degraded by either intracellular nuclease activity or by microbial saprophytes utilizing the remaining organic material (Nygaard, 1983, Novitzky et al., 1986, Blum et al., 1997, Benedik and Strych, 1998). Several investigations have been conducted to elucidate the

presence and stability of transgenic plant DNA in soil over time:

The first field study of the persistence of transgenic plant DNA in soil was performed by Widmer et al. (1997) who investigated the stability of DNA in tobacco leaves buried in soil and in potato plant residues decomposing on the soil surface in Oregon, USA. The transgenic plant DNA was detectable by PCR in the composting tobacco leaves for up to 77 days and for 137 days in the potato litter.

Paget et al. (1998) monitored the stability of DNA in tobacco plants grown in a field site in France. Positive PCR signals where found for up to 1 year after planting.

In a similar approach, Smalla et al. (1999) monitored the stability of transgenic sugar beet (*Beta vulgaris*) in field trials in Oberviehausen, Germany. The PCR amplification with subsequent Southern blotting yielded positive signals for up to 2 years after initial farming of the sugarbeets.

Whereas these studies demonstrate the long-term stability of fragments of plant DNA in soil, which is consistent with the general turnover rate of organic material in this environment, the availability of such remaining DNA to microbial recipients remains to be determined. The detection of the physical persistence of chromosomal plant DNA over time in soil does not imply that this DNA is available to bacteria. DNA integrity and functionality may be destroyed by cleavage by mechanical forces, UV radiation, or chemically modification. The biological activity of DNA (both plant and bacterial) in soil has so far been found to be highly limited (to hours only, Nielsen et al., 1997b, 2000ab) and does not correspond with the observed prolonged physical presence of plant DNA fragments for months or year (see above). In studies of natural transformation of *Acinetobacter* sp. BD413 cells with bacterial DNA in soil, Nielsen et al., (1997b, 2000ab) observed that within few hours after addition of purified chromosomal DNA or cell lysates to soil, the transforming activity of the DNA ceased.

DNA may be released from plants after mechanical disruption of plant tissues or dried plant material or from enzymatically lysed plant cells (by pathogens). Numerous investigations have shown that clay, sand and humic particles commonly found in soil can bind and stabilize cell-free (extracellular) DNA (Aardema et al., 1983, Lorenz and Wackernagel, 1987, Ogram et al., 1988, 1994, Romanowski et al., 1991, 1992, 1993, Paget et al., 1992, Gallori et al., 1994, Blum et al., 1997, Alvarez et al., 1998, Crecchio and Stotzky, 1998a). However, it is unclear to what extent cell-free DNA would bind to mineral particles when released under natural conditions. The availability of plant DNA remaining within plant cells to bacteria present in soil has not yet been demonstrated. The effects of altered

methylation patterns in plant DNA and effects of plant cell residues on natural transformation should also be investigated further.

### 3.2 Bacterial uptake of DNA by natural transformation

The development of bacterial competence for transformation under natural conditions would be a prerequisite for HGT to occur. Competence development in bacteria is a physiologically regulated process and is usually expressed in response to specific growth phases or environmental stimuli (Lorenz and Wackernagel, 1994, Paget and Simonet, 1994). It is unclear to what extent bacteria express competence in soil and phytosphere (Nielsen et al., 1997b, 1998, 2000a), however, *Acinetobacter* sp. BD413 become competent when stimulated by compounds present in root exudates of various agriculturally grown plants (Nielsen and van Elsas, 2000). Fry and coworkers (2000) reported detection of transformants of *Acinetobacter* spp. after exposure to homologous bacterial DNA in the rhizosphere of field grown sugar beet plants.

Since some of the naturally transformable bacterial species can translocate DNA through the bacterial membrane independent of its origin, it seems plausible that their cytoplasm will be exposed to any type of extracellular DNA present in their surrounding. The soil bacterium *Acinetobacter* sp. BD413 has been shown capable of translocating plant marker genes over the bacterial membrane (De Vries and Wackernagel, 1998, Gebhard and Smalla, 1998, Kay et al., 2002) and a similar capability was indicated for the plant pathogen *Ralstonia solanacearum* (Bertolla et al., 2000) and *Pseudomonas stutzeri* (De Vries et al., 2001). Further studies are needed to determine which bacteria are naturally capable of taking up DNA and, moreover, the environmental factors present in the phytosphere that trigger the expression of competence in these bacteria should be identified.

### 3.3 Stability of translocated chromosomal DNA in bacterial transformants

The fate of translocated plant DNA in the bacterial cytoplasm would depend on its ability to escape restriction and degradation by nucleases, and to become integrated in the bacterial chromosome or a replication competent plasmid in order to be passed on in the population.

The action of bacterial restriction enzymes on plant DNA is probably insignificant since the duplexed DNA becomes single-stranded in the process of translocation across the bacterial membrane (Streips, 1991, Lorenz and Wackernagel, 1994, Palmen and Hellingwerf, 1997). Bacterial restriction enzymes recognize and cleave only double-stranded DNA (Brooks, 1987, Cerritelli et al., 1989).

Integration of foreign DNA to a bacterial origin of replication is dependent upon the degree of sequence homology between the incoming DNA and that of the bacterial recipient. For the uptake of heterologous DNA sequences in *Escherichia coli*, *Bacillus subtilis* and *Streptococcus* sp. a Loglinear relationship between decreasing recombination frequencies and increasing DNA sequence divergence has been established (Wörth et al. 1994, Zawadazki et al., 1995ab, Vulic et al., 1997, Majewski et al., 1998, 2000).

The high level of DNA sequence divergence present between wildtype plant and bacterial DNA would therefore naturally limit the extent of successful horizontal gene transfers between these domains. However, transgenic plants may have localized regions of increased sequence homology to bacterial genomes. As outlined in Nielsen et al., (1998) the genetic engineering of plants often result in the incorporation of DNA with homology to bacterial or other prokaryotic organisms. These incorporated sequences may include bacterial vector and plasmid sequences, T-DNA border sequences, bacterial or viral promoters and protein encoding genes (Lorito and Scala, 1999). Since cDNA cloned genes transferred into genetically modified plants usually do not contain introns and may be capable of being expressed by a broad range of bacteria due to compatible codon usage and generally strong promoters their likelihood of uptake and expression in bacterial hosts is enhanced. Additive integration of non-homologous genes due to flanking sequence homology occurs at high frequencies in Acinetobacter sp. (Nielsen et al., 1997ab) indicating the possibility of uptake of plant transgenes based on linked sequence homology. The extent of sequence homology needed for additive integration of DNA in bacteria should be elucidated in detail for representative bacteria in the environment (De Vries and Wackernagel, 2002, Prudhomme et al., 2002).

In addition to the integration of DNA based on homologous recombination, illegitimate recombination events are known to occur in bacteria, albeit at lower frequencies (Ehrlich et al., 1993).

**Mutators.** Homologous recombination occurring in bacteria harboring mutations or environmentally induced deficiencies in their DNA repair system may increase the likelihood of uptake of foreign DNA in bacteria. Sub-populations of bacteria, called mutators, have been found at frequencies of 1-2% in natural populations of *E. coli* and *Salmonella* sp. (LeClerc et al., 1996, Matic et al., 1997). These bacteria harbor mutations, often located in the *mut* genes, that are involved in methyl-directed DNA mismatch repair that enable them to recombine at higher frequencies with DNA from more diverged species (Rayssiguier et al., 1989, Matic et al.,

1995, 1997, Vulic et al., 1997, Taddei et al., 1997). The occurrence of mutators have only been investigated for a few bacterial species and the presence and significance of mutator phenotypes in bacterial populations in the phytosphere remains unknown.

A lowered dependency of sequence homology for recombination possibly by a transient decrease in *mut* gene product activity in bacteria growing under adverse conditions have also been reported (Taddei et al., 1995, 1997, Feng et al., 1996, Rosenberg et al., 1996). Thus, within a bacterial population, the frequency of recombination with divergent DNA is probably spatially and temporarily variable according to the physiological state of the cells and the frequencies of mutator phenotypes.

To better understand the functional limits to bacterial utilization of horizontally transferred DNA and the degree of sequence divergence that would allow recombination to occur in the phytosphere (Townsend et al., 2003), the significance of gene flow in bacterial mutator populations and their prevalence in natural bacterial communities need to be further clarified.

### 3.4 Expression of heterologous DNA in bacterial transformants

The functionality of foreign DNA integrated in bacterial recipients may be limited by the capability of the host to utilize the encoded genetic information. The expression of the transferred plant transgene in the bacterial recipient would often be a prerequisite for a positive selection of the novel bacterial phenotype. Failure to express plant genes taken up in the bacterial cytoplasm can be due to differences in codon usage, in the transcription and translation signals and the presence of introns. The codon usage pattern in plant genes often differ from those used in many bacteria. However, due to the use of complementary DNA cloning procedures, eukaryotic genes inserted into GMP lack introns which might enhance their likelihood of expression if transferred to bacteria. Moreover, many of the promoters currently in use to control the expression of plant transgenes are of prokaryotic origin and therefore also active in bacteria. For example, the cauliflower mosaic virus 35S promoter is active in *E. coli* (Assad and Signer, 1990).

There may therefore be few constraints, except codon usage, to the expression of plant transgenes in bacterial recipients, if transferred. This situation is expected to change as more eukaryotic promoters become available that may direct expression of the transgene to defined plant tissues only.

#### 3.5 Selection and environmental impact of bacterial transformants

Given the low frequency of HGT between divergent organisms such as

plants and bacteria that is expected to occur in the natural environment, a positive selection of the transferred genetic material would be prerequisite for establishing the new genotype in the population and for any environmental impact to be realized. The identification of a fitness advantage conferred by the novel gene upon the transformed bacteria requires a knowledge of environmental factors leading to selection and dispersal of novel genotypes. In general, current understanding of environmental factors that contribute to the selection of bacterial genotypes in nature does not allow for the identification of the selective constraints acting on a gene (putatively horizontally transferred) or a genome to evolve a particular function in a bacterial host (Hall, 1999). For instance, it is currently not possible to accurately describe the selective factors that enable the variety of bacterial species to coexist in complex environments such as soil, or how the introduction of a novel gene would affect fitness of a given bacterial recipient. Thus, the environmental causes of natural selection and factors limiting the evolutionary potential of a bacterial genome need to be understood to enable prediction of an impact of horizontally transferred genes.

**4.** The characteristics of specific transgenes and their natural occurrence Whereas attention to the possible impact of HGT from transgenic plants to bacteria has been focused on antibiotic resistance genes, much of the methodology and reasoning used to evaluate transfer of antibiotic resistance genes is also applicable to other types of transgenes. Here we discuss what is known of the potential impact of plant transgenes that confer antibiotic, herbicide or insect resistance or of viral DNA sequences, if transferred to indigenous bacteria in soil. The assessment of putative risks has two main components:

- (i) An assessment of the prevalence of naturally occurring homologues of the transgene in the environment and identification of alternative introductions of the transgene homologues that result from human activities
- (ii) An assessment of potential fitness advantages of bacterial transformants under different selection pressures

From our point of view, a rare HGT event of from plants to bacteria is only important if it results in the positive selection of the transformant. The strength of the selection will determine the eventual number of bacteria in the environment harboring the transgene and not the initial transfer

frequency, assuming transfer and expression can occur. However, because gene transfer frequencies are thought to be low, there has been little research effort into understanding the selective effects of a transgene in bacterial hosts.

#### 4.1 Antibiotic resistance marker genes

Antibiotic resistance marker genes are probably the genes most frequently inserted into transgenic plants. This is due to the utility they provide in selecting for transformed plant cells. Genes encoding resistance to several different types of antibiotics have been engineered into plants including resistance to the clinically used antibiotics streptomycin, kanamycin, neomycin, amoxicillin, and ampicillin (Andre et al., 1986, Schrott, 1995, Kruse and Jansson, 1997, Metz and Nap, 1997). The gene encoding resistance to kanamycin (nptll or aph(3')-II) is particularly widely used (Nap et al., 1992, Redenbaugh et al., 1994). It is also possible for other antibiotic resistance genes present on bacterial cloning vectors such as the Blateman or nptIII to be accidentally co-transferred to plants due to their presence on the transfer vector (Kruse and Jansson, 1997). Humans are exposed to both the transgenes when present in food, and to potential bacterial transformants in the soil and plant microflora by the consumption of raw vegetables and fruits. Little data is available on the ability of phytosphere bacteria to transfer antibiotic resistance genes to human pathogens and concerns have been expressed that plant-inserted markers may spread horizontally to bacteria of clinical importance (Kruse and Jansson, 1997). Overall, the contribution of natural reservoirs of antibiotic resistance markers to clinically significant resistance patterns remains to be understood.

Natural occurrence of the antibiotic resistance genes (e.g. *nptll*) in indigenous bacteria in soil. High numbers of bacteria naturally resistant to antibiotics in the environment have been reported (van Dijck and De Voorde, 1976, Kelch and Lee, 1978, Henscke and Schmidt, 1990, Schmidt et al., 1990, Nap et al., 1992, Leff et al., 1993, Smalla et al., 1993, 1994, 1997). Most of these studies describe a resistant bacterial phenotype without identification of the underlying genetic basis. Whereas some bacteria might in general not be susceptible to the class of antibiotic, many mechanisms can result in the development of antibiotic resistance. For example, a reduced uptake/accumulation of the antibiotic resistance inserted in transgenic plants), or a modification or lack of the target site of the antibiotic would generate resistant bacteria (Neu, 1992, Davies, 1996,

1997). It is therefore unclear to what extent a phenotypic resistance in bacteria is due to the specific enzymatic inactivation of the antibiotic as encoded in transgenic plants. For instance, whereas 50% of clinical isolates of *E. coli* that were resistant to ampicillin contained the Blater gene (used in some GMPs)(Brandt, 1999, cited in Stirn, 2000), in the soils studied, the observed kanamycin resistance has not arisen after transfer of the nptll gene (widely used in GMPs). The nptll gene could not be detected in kanamycin resistant isolates from agricultural soils even though agricultural soil typically contains high numbers of kanamycin resistant phenotypes (approx. 100 000 CFU per g of soil)(Smalla et al., 1993, 1997, Gebhard and Smalla, 1999). Few studies have been published on the occurrence of enzyme-mediated antibiotic resistance in soil, of the type integrated in transgenic plants (Van Elsas and Pereira, 1986, Henscke and Schmidt, 1990, Smalla et al. 1993, 1997, Van Elsas and Smalla, 1995). Although the natural background level of the *nptll* gene is low in soil, soil microorganisms are frequently exposed to this gene since dispersed manure contains high numbers of bacteria harboring this or similar genes (Smalla et al., 1993, Gebhard and Smalla, 1999, Aarestrup et al., 2000, Sandvang and Aarestrup, 2000). The source of the nptll gene present in manure is unclear.

Selection by antibiotics (e.g. kanamycin) in soil. Bacteria residing in the soil and phytosphere may already encounter considerable natural selection for antibiotic resistance because of antibiotic applications to certain crop species as well as their frequent use in livestock farming. Data are not available on the exact quantities or the specific uses of antibiotics in agriculture (GAO, 99), however, antibiotics are rarely used on commodity crops such as cotton, corn, soybeans and wheat. The antibiotics oxytetracycline and streptomycin are used in the treatment and prevention of diseases in fruit, vegetables and ornamental plant species (Witte, 1998, McManus, 2000). In addition, antibiotics like kanamycin, which is very stable through digestion, may be released into soil from manure collected from treated livestock (Nap et al., 1992). Indigenous soil bacteria and fungi are known to produce antibiotics (Thomashow et al., 1990, Nap et al., 1992), but only low quantities of antibiotics are expected to remain in an active form under natural soil conditions (Gottlieb, 1976, Thomashow et al., 1990, Wellington et al., 1993, Cook et al., 1995). Because natural antibiotic release in soil is thought to be local and transient, it is unclear whether this phenomenon is common enough to guarantee selection of rare bacterial transformants in the soil or phytosphere. In the soil conditions so far tested, experimental studies have not shown an increased survival of bacterial inoculants harboring antibiotic resistance genes (Recorbet et al.,

1992, van Elsas, 1992, Oliveira et al., 1995, Nielsen et al., 2000b); indicating a low level of indigenous antibiotics. However, selective advantages for a *Pseudomonas fluorescens* strain carrying the streptomycin resistance encoding transposon Tn5 (Oliveira et al., 1995), and for *Acinetobacter* sp. BD413 carrying a kanamycin resistance encoding *nptll* gene (Nielsen et al., 2000b), are observed in soil microcosms after the addition of artificially high amounts of the respective antibiotics (streptomycin or kanamycin).

## Putative risks associated with horizontal transfer of antibiotic resistance genes from transgenic plants to bacteria.

In conclusion, the putative HGT of the kanamycin resistance marker, *nptll*, from GMPs to soil bacteria should be compared to exposure of soil and phytosphere bacteria to similar *nptll* sequences present in manure. When soil is exposed to manure, HGT of the *nptll* gene is probably more likely to occur from bacterial hosts in manure to soil bacteria than from GMPs. The introduction of a plant incorporated *nptll* gene is therefore likely to be insignificant for the resistance pattern seen in this environments (given the *nptll* gene is as prevalent in manure as indicated in the few studies published). Because kanamycin is not an antibiotic used in commercial crop growing, it is unlikely that kanamycin resistance genes confer a selective advantage on putative bacterial transformants in soil which are not exposed to pharmaceutically produced antibiotics. However, the high numbers of kanamycin-resistant bacteria found in agricultural soils cannot easily be explained by the current understanding of antibiotic production by soil microbes and selection expected in soil.

To evaluate the impact of other antibiotic resistance plant markers, alternative sources of resistance genes in soil and conditions under which bacteria are exposed to each antibiotic should be identified. If the antibiotic resistance genes are already abundant in agricultural soil, irrigation water or other microbial communities exposed to transgenic plants, the release of such plant transgenes would probably have little impact. Yet, the pathways taken by resistance genes into pathogenic bacteria remains to be identified.

### 4.2 Bt-toxin encoding genes

Bt-toxins are insecticidal proteins (delta-endotoxins) produced by the Gram-positive, spore-forming, insect pathogenic bacterium *Bacillus thuringiensis*. The bacterium contains several plasmids that encode insecticidal *cry*-proteins that show high activity on specific insect larvae (Hofte and Whiteley, 1989, Kumar et al., 1996). The toxin acts by destroying ion gradients in the insect gut lining and the insect dies 2-3 days after

exposure. The native form of the Bt-toxin is a protoxin in the bacterial cytoplasm that requires ingestion by the insect larvae and subsequent solubilization and proteolytic cleavage to produce an active toxin. In transgenic plants, codon modified synthetic *cry*-genes encoding a truncated and active form of the toxin is often used. Whereas about 50 different toxins genes have been isolated, only a few (*cry*1ab, *cry*1ac, *cry*3a, *cry*9c) have been commercialized (EPA, 2000).

Stability and impact on microbial communities of the Bt-toxin in soil. A half-life of the Bt-toxin in soil of 2-46 days has been reported for the active form of the protein (Ream et al., 1992, Palm et al., 1996, Sims and Holden, 1996). The native Bt-toxin can be degraded by sunlight and microorganisms (Koskella and Stotzky, 1997). However, Stotzky (2000a) reported recently that Bt-toxin is released from roots of genetically modified corn (Zea mays) and that the active form of the toxin may be more stable in soil than previously anticipated (Saxena et al., 2000, Saxena and Stotzky, 2000). They indicated that the toxin may bind to soil particles such as clay and humic acids, retain insecticidal activity, and persist for up to 243 days (Venkateswerlu and Stotzky, 1992, Tapp and Stotzky, 1995, Crecchio and Stotzky, 1998b). However, though the active form of the toxin has been shown to persist in soil over time, adverse effects on soil bacteria have not been reported in the few studies conducted (Donegan et al., 1995, 1996, Stotzky, 2000b). See EPA (2000, section IIC1-IIC195) for a more detailed discussion on the fate of Bt-toxin in soil. More research is needed in order to understand the persistence and degradation of the active form of the various cry-gene products in soil.

Natural occurrence of the native form of the Bt-gene in soil bacteria. *B. thuringiensis* is a commonly found soil bacterium that has been isolated from many habitats including agricultural land, forest, savanna, desert, steppe, urban areas and arctic tundra (Martin and Travers, 1989). In a study of soils from 30 different countries of 5 continents, *B. thuringiensis* was isolated from 785 of 1115 samples (Martin and Travers, 1989, Meadows, 1993). Indicating a wide distribution of these strains. However, the natural occurrence and ecology of the strains harboring *cry*-genes such as the native form of the *cry*1ab, *cry*1ac, *cry*3a, and *cry*9c genes is unclear.

Putative risks associated with plant transgenes encoding the active form of the Bt-toxin. If most of the widespread *B. thuringiensis* strains harbor the native form of the *cry*-genes, then soil bacteria are exposed to *cry*genes from sources other than transgenic plants. The *cry*-genes are

located on plasmids and *B. thuringiensis* cells can transfer genes by conjugation (Jarret and Stephenson, 1990). It is unclear whether other bacteria would be able to acquire the same pathogenicity after transfer of the crv-gene carrying plasmids. The restricted occurrence of the crv-genes to *B. thuringiensis* suggesting a fitness advantage that is confined to this species. It is, based on the above observations, suggested that soil bacteria are more likely to acquire the cry-genes from a Bacillus donor (either naturally present in soil or from the application of *B. thuringiensis*containing biopesticides) than from a transgenic plant. It should be noted that the bacterium encode a native protein in contrast to the truncated protein with alterations in size and activity usually encoded by transgenic plants. It is unclear if the changes made in truncated cry-genes would alter the fitness advantages of their bacterial hosts, as compared to the native gene. On the other hand, the DNA sequence of the truncated cry-gene has been altered to optimize its expression in plants which will, together with the use of plant-tissue specific promoters reduce the expression level of the gene, if an unintended transfer to a soil bacterium should occur. In conclusion, the putative HGT of plant-inserted cry-genes to bacteria in

soil would be of little concern if indigenous soil bacteria are already exposed to the *cry*-genes of naturally occurring *B. thuringiensis* strains. Natural reservoirs of *cry*-genes and changes in fitness effects conferred by the introduced nucleotide modifications should be examined closer.

### 4.3 Genes encoding tolerance to glyphosate

Plant resistance to the broad-spectrum herbicide glyphosate is obtained by insertion of a bacterial gene (*aroA*) that encode 5-enol-pyruvylshikimate-3-phosphate synthase (EPSPS) from *Agrobacterium* sp. CP4 (Comai et al., 1985). Recently, a plant gene encoding a modified version of the EPSPS protein has also been used to provide glyphosate tolerance in corn plants (*Zea mays*, Monsanto Line GA21). EPSPS is essential for the synthesis of certain amino acids in chloroplasts. The plant EPSPS enzyme is inhibited by glyphosate, whereas the bacterial EPSPS enzyme, or the modified plant EPSPS enzyme, have reduced affinity to the herbicide and thereby confer tolerance.

Stability and impact on microbial communities of the herbicide glyphosate in soil. Glyphosate appears to be rapidly degraded by microbes in soil, even at high application rates, and without detectable adverse effects on microbial activity (Rueppel et al. 1977, Haney et al., 2000). Glyphosate is also thought to become inactivated when it binds to clay minerals in soil. Half-lives of glyphosate of 12-60 days in agricultural soils have been reported (Cheah et al., 1998, EPA, 1998) and microbial populations, able to degrade glyphosate, have been isolated from activated sludge (Hallas et al., 1992, Heitkamp et al., 1992, Carson et al. 1997), soil (Zboinska et al., 1992, Gard et al., 1997) and fresh-water and sediment (Zaranyika and Nyandoro, 1993). There is also evidence that the un-culturable fraction of soil microorganisms degrade glyphosate (Forlani et al., 1999).

Natural prevalence of the glyphosate resistance gene. The bacterial source of the EPSPS transgene, *Agrobacterium* is a commonly found soil and plant-associated bacterium. The modified EPSPS encoding plant gene has 99.3 % sequence similarity to the gene which occurs naturally in corn, though the protein it produces is structurally different from its original form. The metabolic pathway utilizing the EPSPS enzyme is present in all plants, bacteria and fungi, therefore, this housekeeping gene and its orthologues are widely distributed in the soil environment.

Identification of putative risks associated with horizontal transfer of the glyphosate tolerance gene from plants to bacteria. Due to the wide distribution of the EPSPS gene in the environment, soil microbial communities are naturally exposed to the EPSPS encoding genes of *Zea mays, Agrobacterium* sp. and from other bacteria in soil. Thus, the transgene would only be an additional source of the EPSPS gene, with few nucleotide changes from the native gene, in soil. It should be noted that this assessment is based on the assumption that the differences between the transgene and the native form do not alter the fitness advantages of bacterial hosts, as compared to the available forms of the EPSPS genes. The incorporation of the plant derived EPSPS transgene would substantially reduce the likelihood of transfer of the transgene to bacteria, due to the general lack of DNA homology, and few risks (in a HGT context) can be identified from the use of this gene in plants.

In conclusion, the putative HGT of EPSPS transgenes from plants to bacteria is probably of little concern since soil microorganisms are already exposed to a wide variety of these genes from numerous organisms.

### 4.4 Genes conferring tolerance to glufosinate

The *bar* (bialaphos resistance) and *pat* (phosphinothricin resistance) genes have been used extensively in transgenic plants either as selectable markers, in hybrid seed production or as agronomic characters conferring resistance to the broad-spectrum herbicide phosphinothricin (Metz et al., 1998). The *pat* and *bar* genes (85% DNA homology) were isolated from

Streptomyces viridochromogenes and S. hygroscopicus, respectively (Metz et al., 1998), and encode phosphinotricin-N-acetyltransferase (PAT) which inactivates the herbicide by acetylation (Thompson et al., 1987). Phosphinothricin is produced by the actinomycetes S. viridochromogenes and S. hygroscopicus and interferes with the amino acid synthesis in plants by inhibition of the glutamine synthase enzyme. This inhibition triggers ammonia accumulation which results in disruption of the chloroplast structure (see Metz et al., 1997).

Stability and impact of the herbicide phosphinothricin in soil. Phosphinothricin (PPT) is reported to be degraded within days in soil although residues have been found after months (Faber et al., 1997). There is evidence that PPT degrading microbial species exist in soil (Bartsch and Tebbe, 1989, Tebbe and Reber, 1991); PPT can be used as a source of phosphorous and nitrogen by some species of soil bacteria (Tebbe and Reber, 1988, Quinn et al., 1993). Because PPT is only detected in soil up to a 10-15 cm depth it is thought that most PPT is degraded by microbes or becomes bound to soil particles near the soil surface (WSSA, 1994 cited in Metz et al., 1998, Faber et al., 1997). A study of 227 environmental bacterial isolates revealed that 37% of the bacterial species sampled showed inhibited growth at concentrations of less than 1 mM PPT (Quinn et al., 1993). However, in most cases, spontaneous mutants that were resistant to PPT arose from the sensitive populations of bacteria (Quinn et al., 1993, Kriete and Broer, 1996). An effect of plant metabolites of PPT on soil microorganisms remains to be identified.

Natural occurrence of the bar and pat gene in soil. Actinomycetes, including streptomycetes, are widely distributed in soil, compost, water and other environments (Goodfellow et al., 1988, Herron and Wellington, 1990). The specific distribution of the bar and pat genes in the environment is, however, unclear. Streptomycetes can exchange genes e.g. by conjugation (Wellington and van Elsas, 1992, Chater et al., 1997).

Identification of risks associated with horizontal transfer of the bar or pat genes from plants to bacteria. The impact resulting from a horizontal transfer of the plant-inserted bar or pat genes from GMPs to bacteria is perhaps of little concern since soil microorganisms may be exposed to these or similar genes from other streptomycetes in soil that are capable of conjugal gene transfer. It is noted that this assumption is based on the unconfirmed presumed wide distribution of the bar and pat genes in streptomycetes populations present in the environment. Because resistance to phosphinothricin can arise rapidly in some microbial populations by spontaneous mutation, a clear fitness advantage and an environmental impact of a horizontally transferred plant transgene to soil microbial communities is not predicted.

#### 4.5 Cauliflower mosaic virus (CaMV) sequences

The 35S promoter of the cauliflower mosaic virus (CaMV) has often been inserted into transgenic plants to control the expression of various genes because of its efficiency in heterologous genetic backgrounds (Hull et al., 2000). The CaMV contains a 8000 base pair circular double-stranded DNA molecule with one copy of the 35S promoter. Upon lysis of infected plant cells, approx. 100 copies of the virus are released (Hull et al., 2000).

**Prevalence of CaMV in soil environments.** The CaMV is commonly found in temperate countries where it infects cauliflower, cabbage, oilseed rape, mustard and other Brassicas and some Solanaceaous species (Tomlinson et al., 1987, Chenault and Melcher, 1994, Schoelz and Bourgue, 1999, Hull et al 2000). In a survey (cited in Hull et al., 2000, Morel and Tepfer, 2000), up to 10% of cauliflowers and 50% of cabbages on local markets in the UK were infected with CaMV. Thus, it is expected that soil bacteria are already exposed to the CaMV DNA from rotting plant residues.

Identification of risks associated with horizontal transfer of the cauliflower mosaic virus (CaMV) sequences from transgenic plants to bacteria. In conclusion, the impact of a HGT of the plant-inserted CaMV sequences to bacteria is unclear, but assumed to be low since soil microorganisms are naturally exposed to these sequences from infected plant tissues. Numerous bacteriophages are present in soil bacterial communities, so a specific fitness advantage cannot easily be identified for putative bacterial transformants receiving DNA fragments encoding the CaMV promoter sequences from transgenic plants as compared to other native viral sequences.

Most of the transgenes examined here also occur naturally in some strain of soil bacterium or are already introduced into the soil environment from other sources (e.g. manure or in infected plant residues). Bacteria are capable of conjugation, transduction, natural transformation and mobile or mobilizable sequences can facilitate dissemination of the gene in question. Where natural forms of the transgene are abundant, soil bacteria would be more likely to acquire the gene in question from a bacterial donor than from a transgenic plant. Few impacts can be identified for the evaluated genes, however, this conclusion is based on two assumptions;

1. That the native forms of the genes are as abundant in the environment as the distribution of species in which they have been found.

2. That the engineered genes would confer the same fitness to the host as the native gene.

Both these assumptions should be verified.

### 5. Investigations of HGT from transgenic plants to bacteria

The likelihood of horizontal transfer of recombinant plant DNA to bacterial recipients in the phytosphere can be evaluated by at least three different approaches (Schlüter and Potrykus, 1996, Nielsen, 1998, Nielsen et al., 1998, Dröge et al., 1998, Bertolla and Simonet, 1999, Smalla et al., 2000):

- 1. Comparisons of available DNA sequences of bacterial and plant origin to reveal recent events of horizontal transfers.
- 2. Screening of bacterial isolates, or total-DNA of the bacterial fraction of the phytosphere for the acquisition of transgenes from field grown transgenic plants.
- 3. Investigations of HGT from transgenic plants to defined model bacteria under optimized laboratory conditions.

Each of these approaches differ in their ability to detect and characterize putative events of HGT with respect to the type of genes transferred, the bacterial diversity screened, to the extent the growth conditions applied reflects natural circumstances, the sensitivity of detection of putative events of HGT, reproducibility, ability to characterize the gene transfer process, and ability to estimate gene transfer frequencies (Nielsen et al., 1998). In chapter 5.1-5.3, we briefly summarize the available literature describing these approaches.

### 5.1 Comparisons of known plant and bacterial DNA sequences for an assessment of recent horizontal transfer events.

Comparative sequence analyses can infer events of HGT based on similarities in nucleotide and protein sequence, abnormal inheritance pattern of a particular gene, and discrepancies in G/C content and codon usage (Smith et al., 1992, Doolittle, 1997, 1999, Ochman et al., 2000).

Some cases of naturally-occurring HGT from plants (or other eukaryotes) to bacteria has been inferred based on comparative DNA analyses (see Dröge et al. 1998, Carlson and Chelm, 1986, Froman et al., 1989, Doolittle et al., 1990, Lamour et al., 1994). Based on available DNA sequences and to the extent these have been analyzed with appropriate methodology,

HGT from wild-type plants to bacteria appear to be infrequent and evolutionary successful events are probably rare when seen in the time perspective of modern agriculture. However, as noted in chapter 3.3, the insertion of genetic material of prokaryotic origin in transgenic plants may change the frequencies of gene exchange between plants and bacteria that have similar DNA sequences based on enhanced expression and sequence dependent integration (homologous recombination) of DNA. The extent to which selected events of HGT in the evolutionary past can aid in the understanding of putative HGT from of novel plant genotypes is unclear.

# 5.2 Screening of bacterial isolates or total-DNA of the bacterial fraction of the phytosphere for the acquisition of transgenes from field grown transgenic plants.

Several groups have screened bacterial isolates from GMP field sites or soil microcosms to detect bacterial transformants after putative horizontal transfer of antibiotic resistance marker genes (Table 1);

- Becker and coworkers (1994) investigated HGT of the *nptll* and hygromycin resistance (*hph*) genes from transgenic tobacco into indigenous bacteria present in a soil microcosm. Bacterial transformants could not be detected in these experiments after selective plating for antibiotic resistance and DNA hybridization with a probe specific for the plant insert.
- 2. Over 4000 kanamycin resistant bacteria were isolated from soil samples obtained from field trials with *nptll* containing transgenic sugar beets (*Beta vulgaris*) by Smalla and coworkers in Germany (Smalla et al., 1994, Gebhard and Smalla, 1999). However, colony hybridization and PCR amplification revealed that the plant inserted kanamycin resistance gene (*nptll*) had not transferred to these bacteria. Also direct analyzes of the bacterial DNA fraction isolated from the soil indicated that the observed kanamycin resistance was due to other mechanisms than nptll encoded resistance.
- 3. Similar negative results were also obtained by Simonet and coworkers in France (Paget et al. 1998) who investigated gentamicin resistant bacteria isolated from a field site with tobacco harboring the *aacC1*gentamicin resistance gene. No evidence could be found that the resistance gene had been transferred to the 600 gentamycin resistant colonies of soil bacteria that were analyzed.

The field studies performed do not indicate the level of detection per g of soil nor the sample size from which the analyzed resistant colonies arose. It is likely that only a fraction (of unknown size) of the indigenous bacteria in soil which might acquire plant DNA through HGT would express the specific trait selected for in the cultured bacterial fraction. Since only a minor fraction of soil bacteria (10% or less) respond to laboratory cultivation (Hugenholz and Pace, 1996, Pace, 1997) and even fewer bacteria on the limited number of media and cultivation techniques used in these studies, this method may underestimate the rate of HGT.

Only a small percentage of the soil microflora were assessed for their capability of uptake of plant transgenes in this approach and the natural background of antibiotic resistant phenotypes often interfere with the analyzes of the putative HGT of plant marker genes. Alternatively, the cultivation-independent approaches encompass the complex recipient structure found in natural bacterial communities, however, this technique has a limited ability to verify HGT of a plant transgenes into a bacterial genome.

### 5.3 Investigation of HGT from transgenic plants to defined model bacteria under optimized laboratory conditions.

The putative horizontal transfer of marker genes from plants to defined model bacteria has been investigated by several groups. With the exception of *Escherichia coli*, all of these studies have been performed with naturally transformable soil and plant-associated bacteria as recipients for chromosomally inserted plant marker genes. Below we summarize the published studies (Table 1). In addition, several unpublished studies have probably been conducted by companies, e.g. the study cited in FDA, 1998.

- 1. Broer and coworkers (1996) studied HGT from T-DNA transformed tobacco to the plant pathogenic bacterium Agrobacterium tumefaciens. This approach facilitated homologous recombination between the Ti-plasmid harbored by the recipient A. tumefaciens and the T-DNA integrated in the GMP. Despite naturally selective conditions for A. tumefaciens in the infected plant tumors, transfer of the plant harbored gentamycin resistance (accl) gene could not be detected in the recipient bacteria. The transformation frequency was found to be below <6 x 10<sup>-12</sup> transformants per recipient bacterium.
- 2. In an unpublished study cited in a FDA draft guidance document (FDA, 1998) investigation of possible HGT of an ampicillin resistance gene

from a insect-resistant corn line to competent *Escherichia coli* cells was described. Apparently, transformants were not detected by the crop developer conducting the studies and "the experiments showed that transformation did not occur above a frequency of 1 in 6.8 x 10<sup>-19</sup>" (FDA, 1998). To experimentally verify this detection limit, assuming a high density of 10<sup>14</sup> colony forming units of *E. coli* per liter of media, would require screening of bacterial cells from 10<sup>6</sup> liter of culture. The amount of DNA used in the experiments were not given.

- 3. Schlüter and coworkers (Schlüter et al., 1995) investigated HGT from transgenic potato to the plant pathogenic bacterium *Erwinia chrysanthemi*. Transformation of the bacterium was investigated by inoculation of the bacterium directly onto potato tubers which facilitated lysis of the plant cells with subsequent possible release of plant DNA containing a selectable ampicillin resistance gene (encoding a β-lactamase) and a bacterial origin of vegetative replication. However, no transformants could be detected in these studies and the detection limit was <10<sup>-9</sup> transformants per bacterial recipient. The authors concluded that under natural conditions the more realistic frequencies were below 2 x 10<sup>-17</sup> transformants per recipient bacterium.
- 4. Nielsen and coworkers (Nielsen et al., 1997c) investigated HGT from *nptll* containing transgenic sugar beet and potato to the soil bacterium *Acinetobacter calcoaceticus* (Baumann, 1968, recently renamed *Acinetobacter* sp.) on agar-plates in vitro. High transformation frequencies of 10<sup>-2</sup> transformants per recipient bacterium can be reached when exposing this recipient to homologous chromosomal DNA *in vitro*. However, transformants could not be detected under the optimized conditions even when excess plant DNA was removed. The frequency of successful transformation in these experiments was concluded to be below 10<sup>-11</sup> transformants per recipient. Under natural conditions, the transformation frequency was estimated to be below 10<sup>-16</sup> transformants per recipient. It was concluded from this study that the presence of sequence homology or a stabilizing sequence like an origin of replication was required for stable maintenance of the translocated DNA in the *Acinetobacter* sp. strain used.

As discussed in section 3.3, the integration of translocated DNA in bacterial recipients depends on the degree of sequence homology between the recombining DNA strands. By introducing sequence

homology between transgenic plant DNA and a bacterial recipient, two recent studies have been able to detect HGT of plant harbored DNA by homologous recombination of a *nptll* gene into the recipient bacterium *Acinetobacter* sp. In these studies the *Acinetobacter* sp. cells were able to access purified plant DNA and restore a partially deleted (10-317 bp) bacterial *nptll* gene with the information present in a plant DNA harbored *nptll* gene. (Gebhard and Smalla, 1998, De Vries and Wackernagel, 1998). Smalla et al. (1998) obtained restoration of a 317 bp deletion in the *nptll* gene at a frequency of  $5.4 \times 10^{\circ}$  after exposing the recipient bacterium to transgenic sugar beet DNA *in vitro*. Similarly, another group, (De Vries and Wackernagel, 1998), obtained restoration of a 10 bp deletion in the *nptll* gene at transformation frequencies of up to  $3.5 \times 10^{\circ}$  after exposure of the bacterium to transgenic DNA purified from either potato, tomato, tobacco, oilseed rape, or sugar beet plants.

Subsequently, it was also shown that uptake of a plant marker gene in *Acinetobacter* sp., based on homologous recombination, also can occur in sterile soil microcosm (Nielsen et al., 2000b) at frequencies of 10<sup>-7</sup> to 10<sup>-8</sup> per bacterial recipient after the addition of nutrient solutions. Studies have also shown that this bacterium can access genetic material present in bacterial cell lysates indicating that the presence of cell material such as membranes and cytoplasmic residues are not inhibitory for natural transformation to occur (Nielsen et al 2000a).

5. Bertolla et al. (2000) investigated putative HGT of tobacco or tomato transgenes to the plant pathogenic bacterium Ralstonia solanacearum in vitro using purified DNA and in planta during infection. However, they were not able to demonstrate in vitro nor in planta that the partially deleted nptll gene in the R. solanacearum recipient could be restored after exposure to nptll containing plants or its DNA. Transgenic plants of tobacco and tomato harboring a R. solanacearum popA gene with internally inserted streptomycin resistance (aadA) and gentamycin resistance (aacC1-IV) genes were also used as DNA donor. The additive integration of these two antibiotic resistance genes into the recipient R. solanacearum popA gene was facilitated by the flanking bacterial popA sequences (of 719 and 907 bp) in the transgenic plant DNA. However, transformants were not detected using this approach. The transformation frequencies of R. solanacearum with the plant DNA donors used were reported to be below 1.6 x 10<sup>-9</sup> in vitro and 4.4 x 10<sup>-9</sup> in planta per bacterial recipient. The authors suggested the presence of excess plant DNA to interfere with the transformation process.

6. For recent studies see also De Vries and Wackernagel, 2001 and Kay et al., 2002.

It seems relevant to conclude that transfer of plant marker genes to bacteria can only occur at very low frequencies even under highly optimized conditions. This is due to the dilution effect caused by the relative size of the plant genome to the bacterial genome (Bertolla et al., 2000). It can be estimated, based on the number of DNA binding sites on the bacterial cell membrane and the size of translocated DNA fragments (see Palmen and Hellingwerf, 1997), that more than 5000 bacteria are needed to take up the amount of DNA present in a single plant cell. Thus, the highest transformation frequencies obtainable at a given time (given no deleterious fragmentation of the marker gene during uptake and 1 transgene copy per plant cell) is  $2 \times 10^{-4}$  transformants per bacterial cell. However, since not all bacteria in a population express competence at a given time the maximum frequencies drops to  $2 \times 10^{-7}$  (if  $10^{-3}$  competent bacteria per recipient bacterium, e.g. Acinetobacter) to 2 x 10<sup>-11</sup> (given 10<sup>-7</sup> competent bacteria per recipient bacterium, e.g. Erwinia, Ralstonia, Agrobacterium). These calculations are consistent with the maximum transformation frequencies observed; see above. Our calculations are based on a given time frame, a prolonged time perspective and variable environmental conditions should be integrated in further estimates since bacterial cell division and growth conditions would alter the number of bacterial recipients and their ability to integrate DNA.

Most of the model bacteria studied in this approach differed in their ability to develop competence and express the selectable trait. For instance, the natural competence of *E. chrysanthemi*, *A. tumefaciens* and *R. solanacearum* was generally low. Moreover, with the exception for the DNA availability to *R. solanacearum* during infection (Bertolla et al., 2000), the presence and stability of released plant DNA with transforming activity in the lysed potato tuber tissue or in crown galls have not been well documented. Also the expression level of the kanamycin resistance gene in the *Acinetobacter* recipient was low, providing a low degree of resistance. It should be noted that no technique other than culturing in the presence of antibiotics, has proven successful in demonstrating HGT from plants to bacteria.

The diversity and interactions of bacterial communities present in natural plant habitats are usually not reflected in the results obtained when using defined model bacteria to assess the likelihood of HGT from transgenic plants. On the other hand, the utilization of model bacteria as putative

recipients of selectable marker genes can facilitate the identification of important factors determining the likelihood of such events to occur. From the studies performed with homologous sequences present, it can be concluded that plant DNA is accessible to competent bacterial strains both *in vitro* and in sterile soil and that the stability of the transferred DNA depends on the degree of sequence homology to the bacterial recipient. As discussed in section 3.3, the inserts in transgenic plants often harbor prokaryotic genes thereby increasing the level of DNA homology between plants and bacteria.

# Table 1. Experimental studies undertaken to investigate unintended transfer of plant marker genes to bacteria (modified from Nielsen et al., 2000).

Reference	Transgenic plant material (plant marker gene)	Recipient bacterium	Transfer detected (frequencies)ª
Becker et al., 1994	Soil microcosm with tissue homogenate of tobacco (nptll, hph)	Indigenous soil bacteria	No
Broer et al., 1996	Infected tobacco galls (accl)	Agrobacterium tumefaciens	No (<6 x 10 <sup>-12</sup> )
Schlüter et al., 1995	Infected potato plants and tubers ( <i>amp</i> , oriV)	Erwinia chrysanthemi	No (<10 <sup>.9</sup> estimated below 2 x 10 <sup>-17</sup> )
Nielsen et al., 1997	Purified potato and sugarbeet DNA ( <i>nptII</i> )	Acinetobacter sp.	No (<10 <sup>-11</sup> estimated below10 <sup>-16</sup> )
Described in FDA, 1998	Transgenic corn DNA (ampicillin resistance gene)	Escherichia coli	No (<1.5 x 10 <sup>-20</sup> )
Gebhard and Smalla, 1998	Purified potato and sugarbeet DNA ( <i>nptll</i> )	Acinetobacter sp.	Yes (5.4 x10°) Integration facilitated by DNA homology
De Vries and Wackernag el, 1998	Purified potato, tobacco, sugarbeet and oilseed rape DNA ( <i>nptll</i> )	Acinetobacter sp.	Yes (3.5 x10 <sup>-8</sup> ) Integration facilitated by DNA homology
Paget et al., 1998	French field grown tobacco plants ( <i>aacl</i> )	Indigenous soil bacteria	No
Gebhard and Smalla, 1999		Indigenous soil bacteria	No
Nielsen et al., 2000	Purified sugarbeet DNA added to sterile soil microcosms ( <i>nptll</i> )	Acinetobacter sp.	Yes (1.4 x10 <sup>-8</sup> ) Integration facilitated by DNA homology
Bertolla et al., 2000	Purified DNA and infected plants of potato and tomato ( <i>aada, aac1-IV, nptII</i> )	Ralstonia solanacearum	No (<1.6 x 10 <sup>.</sup> 9 in vitro and <4.4 x 10 <sup>.9</sup> in planta)

133

<sup>a</sup> Frequencies given as the number of transformants per recipient bacterium.

## 6. Conclusions and further studies

The assessment of the likelihood and environmental impact of an unintended transfer of a plant transgene to a bacterium is based on an understanding of bacterial genetics and natural selection drawn from;

- (i) Analyses of bacterial genomes and bacterial gene phylogenies
- (ii) Empirical studies and observations of horizontal gene transfer in bacterial communities
- (iii) Experimental studies of cellular barriers to the uptake of divergent DNA in bacteria
- (iv) Identification of environmental barriers to the access to transforming DNA in bacteria
- (v) Comparisons of sequenced plant and bacterial DNA to reveal transfer of specific sequences
- (vi) Field studies performed to detect gene transfer from transgenic plants to bacteria
- (vii) Experimental studies of gene transfer from transgenic plant to specific bacteria
- (viii) Understanding of natural selection in bacterial populations
- (ix) Theoretical prediction of fitness effects of a transgene in bacterial communities based on an understanding of the gene ecology of the native homologue
- (x) The absence of reported adverse effects from the large number of field releases performed

Further research in several areas is needed to improve the science-based risk assessment of novel plant genotypes.

Although the capability of bacteria to take up extracellular DNA was discovered in 1944 (Avery et al., 1944), gene transfer by natural transformation has remained a poorly understood process in most environments. There is, for instance, a clear lack of knowledge on the occurrence, extent and importance of gene transfer by natural transformation in the phytosphere, the digestive system of soil invertebrates or in the digestive tract of farm animals and humans. To better understand the importance of natural transformation in relation to bacterial adaptation, environmental factors that affect horizontal gene transfer needs to be identified and the level of competence development in bacterial communities determined.

Although fragments of plant DNA have been detected after 2 years of plant cultivation, it is clear that the probability of functional transfer to

bacteria is inversely related to the time DNA is exposed in the environment. It is uncertain to what degree plant DNA is available as genetic information to bacteria in the phytosphere or in the gut during digestion since the degradation kinetics of DNA in different microhabitats remains to be determined.

The main barrier to gene transfer between transgenic plants and bacteria appears to be caused by lack of DNA sequence homology. Since most transgenic plant inserts include some prokaryotic DNA sequences, homologous recombination may occur in bacteria which harbor similar sequences. Further studies should be done to assess the degree of sequence homology required for the stable integration of plant transgenes in bacterial genomes. Moreover, the prevalence of mutator subpopulations, their recombination frequencies with divergent DNA, and their role in bacterial evolution may be particularly necessary for the prediction of horizontal gene transfer from GMPs to soil bacteria.

No peer reviewed data is available that has documented the unintended transfer of plant transgenes to bacteria that are naturally present in the environment. This observation is based on a small number of published investigations; <20 experimental studies of <10 model bacteria and 3 studies of indigenous soil bacterial populations. It is obvious that these studies are not representative of the diversity of bacterial communities present in natural environments. However, they support the assumption that the likelihood of transfer of plant DNA to soil bacteria is extremely low. The fact that HGT from plants to bacteria is apparently so rare that it has not been detected, suggest that the transfer barriers are effective and that it will be challenging to study this type of gene transfer unless the transformants encounter an environment in which they have a strong selective advantage.

An uncertainty underlying current risk assessment of the impact of unintended HGT from plants to bacteria is caused by a poor understanding of selection pressures acting on bacteria in the natural environment. It is expected that most plant transgenes, if inserted in bacteria, would confer a neutral or negative effect on the reproduction of those bacteria carrying the new gene.

Positive selection of a rare transformant may generate an unintended environmental impact which cannot be predicted from the low transfer frequencies that are emphasized in current risk assessments. Thus, the ability to assess fitness effects of transgenes if transferred to unintended hosts should be strengthened. With the exception of certain antibiotic resistance markers, a fitness advantage of plant transgenes in bacterial recipients has not been predicted. For instance, in the absence of kanamycin, it is unlikely that a transformed *nptll* carrying bacterium would have sufficient advantage to become common in the soil environment. An evaluation of selective advantages of plant transgenes (given they are directly derived from another organism) in bacterial recipients would be enhanced by knowledge of the distribution of selective agents, natural background levels and reservoirs of the gene. If alternative sources of the plant transgene can be identified in the environment, it is expected that bacterial communities are already exposed to this gene, and would have taken it up if providing a selective advantage. Thus, the identification and description of natural reservoirs of homologues to plant transgenes (most often genetic traits found in various environmental organisms) would reduce some of the controversy surrounding the release of transgenic plants today and allow a rational decision to be made on the relative risk of the transgene.

## 7. References

**Aardema**, B. W., **Lorenz**, M. G., **Krumbein**, W. E. 1983. Protection of sedimentadsorbed transforming DNA against enzymatic inactivation. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 46, 417-420.

Aarestrup, F. M., Agerso, Y. Gerner Schmidt, P., Madsen, M., Jenssen, LB. 2000. Comparison of antimicrobial resistance phenotypes and resistance genes in *Enterecoccus faecalis* and *Enterococcus faecium* from humans in the community, broilers and pigs in Denmark. *Diag. Microbiol. Inf. Dis.* 37, 127-137.
Adamo, J. A., Gealt, M. A. 1996. A demonstration of bacterial conjugation within the alimentary canal of *Rhabditis* nematodes. *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.* 20, 15-22.

**Alvarez**, A. J., **Khanna**, M., **Toranzos**, G. A., **Stotzky** G., 1998. Amplification of DNA bound on clay minerals. *Molecular Ecology* 7, 775-778.

**Amábile-Cuevas**, C. F., **Chicurel**, M. E. 1993. Horizontal gene transfer. *American Scientist* 81, 332-41.

**Andre**, D., **Colau**, D., **Schell**, J., **van Montagu**, M. and **Hernalsteens**, J. P. 1986. Gene tagging in plants by a T-DNA insertion mutagen that generates APH (3') II-plant gene fusions. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* 204, 512-518.

**Assad**, F. F., **Signer**, E. R. 1990. Cauliflower mosaic virus P35S promoter activity in Escherichia coli. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* 223, 517-520.

**Avery**, O. T., **Macleod**, C. M., **McCarty**, M. 1944. Studies on the chemical nature of the substance inducing transformation of pneumococcal types. *J. Exp. Med.* 79, 137-158

**Bartsch**, K., **Tebbe**, C. C. 1089. Initial steps in the degradation of phosphinothricin (glufosinate) by soil bacteria. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 55, 711-716.

**Baumann**, P. 1968. Isolation of Acinetobacter from soil and water. *Journal of Bacteriology* 96, 39-42

Baur, B., Hanselmann, K., Schlimme, W. and Jenni, B. 1996. Genetic

transformation in freshwater: *Escherichia coli* is able to develop natural competence. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 62, 3673-3678.

**Becker**, J., **Siegert**, H., **Logemann**, J. and **Schell**, J. 1994. Begleitende sicherheitsforschung zur freisetzung gentechnisch veränderter petunien In: Biologische Sicherheit. (Bundesministerium für Forschung und Technologie, Ed.). pp. 563-578. Bd. 3. *Bundesministerium für Forschung und Technologie*.

Benedik, M. J., Strych, U. 1998. Serratia marcescens and its extracellular nuclease. FEMS Microbiology Letters 165, 1-13.

**Bertolla**, F., A. **Frostegaard**, B. **Brito**, X. **Nesme**, P. **Simonet**. 1999. During infection of its hosts, the plant pathogen *Ralstonia solanacearum* naturally develops a state of competence and exchanges genetic material. *MPMI* 12, 467-472.

**Bertolla**, F., **Pepin**, R, **Passelegue-Robe**, E., **Paget**, E., **Simkin**, A., **Nesme**, X., **Simonet**, P. 2000. Plant genome complexity may be a factor limiting in situ the transfer of transgenic plant genes to the phytopathogen *Ralstonia* solanacearum. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 66, 4161-4167.

**Bertolla**, F., **Simonet**, P. 1999. Horizontal gene transfer in the environment; natural transformation as a putative process for gene transfer between transgenic plants and microorganisms. *Res. Microbiol.* 150, 375-384.

**Bertolla**, F., **van Gijsegem**, F., **Nesme**, X., **Simonet**, P. 1997. Conditions for natural transformation of *Ralstonia solanacearum*. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 63, 4965-4968.

**Björklöf**, K., **Suoniemi**, A., **Haahtela**, K., **Romantschuk**, M. 1995. High frequency of conjugation versus plasmid segregation of RP1 in epiphytic *Pseudomonas syringae* populations. *Microbiol.* 141, 2719-2727.

**Blum**, S. A. E., **Lorenz**, M. G., **Wackernagel**, W. 1997. Mechanisms of retarded DNA degradation and prokaryotic origin of DNases in non-sterile soil. *System. Appl. Microbiol.* 20, 513-521.

**Bowler**, L. D., **Zhang**, Q-Y., **Riou**, J-Y., **Spratt**. B. G. 1994. Interspecies recombination between the penA genes of *Neisseria meningitis* and commensal *Neisseria species* during the emergence of penicillin resistance in *N. meningitis*: natural events and laboratory simulations. *J. Bacteriol.* 176, 333-337.

**Brandt**, P. 1999. Antibiotika-resistenzgene als marker in gentechnisch veranderten pflanzen. Bundesgesundheitsbl – Gesundheitsforsch – Gesundheitsschutz 9/42, 51-57. Cited in Stirn, S. 2000. Antibiotic resistance and horizontal gene transfer. *Biogum/GTZ*, Germany

**Broer**, I., **Dröge-Laser**, W. and **Gerke**, M. 1996. Examination of the putative horizontal gene transfer from transgenic plants to *Agrobacteria*. In: Transgenic organisms and biosafety, horizontal gene transfer, stability of DNA and expression of transgenes (Schmidt, E.R. and Hankeln, T., Eds.), pp. 67-70. *Springer Verlag*, Heidelberg.

**Brooks**, J. E 1987. Properties and uses of restriction enzymes. In SL Berger and AR Kimmel (eds) *Guide to Molecular Cloning Techniques-Methods in Enzymology* 152, 113-141.

**Campbell**, A. M. 2000. Lateral gene transfer in prokaryotes. *Theor. Pop. Biol.* 57, 71-77.

**Carlson**, T. A., **Chelm**, B. K. 1986. Apparent eukaryotic origin of gluthamine synthetase II from the bacterium *Bradyrhizobium japonicum*. *Nature* 322, 568-570. **Carson**, D. B., **Heitkamp**, M. A., **Hallas**, L. E. 1997. Biodegradation of N-phosphonomethyliminodiacetic acid by microorganisms from industrial activated sludge. Can. *J. Microbiol.* 43, 97-101.

**Cerritelli**, S., **Springhorn**, S. S. and **Lacks**, S. A. 1989. *DpnA*, a methylase for single-stranded DNA in the Dpn II restriction system, and its biological function. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 86, 9223-9227.

**Chater**, K. F., **Henderson**, D. J., **Bibb**, M. J., **Hopwood**, D. A. 1997. Genome flux in *Streptomyces* and its possible relevance to the evolution of mobile antibiotic resistance determinants. *In: Transposition* (Kingsman, A. J., Chater, K. F., Kingsmann, S. M. Eds.). pp. 7-42. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

**Cheah**, U. B. **Kirkwood**, R. C. **Lum**, K. Y. 1998. Degradation of four commonly used pesticides in Malaysian agricultural soils. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 46, 1217-1223. **Chenault**, K. D., **Melcher**, U. 1994. Phylogenetic relationships reveal recombination among isolates of cauliflower mosaic virus. *J. Mol. Evol.* 39, 496-505.

**Coffey**, T. J., **Dowson**, C. G., **Daniels**, M., **Spratt**. B. G. 1993. Horizontal spread of an altered penicillin-binding protein 2B gene between *Streptococcus pneumoniae* and *Streptococcus oralis*. *FEMS Microbiol*. *Lett.* 110, 335-40.

**Comai**, L., **Facciotti**, D., **Hiatt**, W. R., **Thompson**, G., **Rose**, R., **Stalker**, D. 1985. Expression in plants of a mutant aroA gene from *Salmonella typhimurium* confers tolerance to glyphosate. *Nature* 317, 741-744.

Cook, R.J., Thomashow, L. S., Weller, D.M., Fujimoto, D., Mazzola, M., Bangera, G., Kim, D-S. 1995. Molecular mechanisms of defense by rhizobacteria against root disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA. 92, 4197-4201.

**Crecchio**, C., **Stotzky**, G. 1998a. Binding of DNA on humic acids: effect on transformation of *Bacillus subtilis* and resistance to DNase. *Soil. Biol. Biochem.* 30, 1061-1067.

**Crecchio**, C., **Stotzky**, G. 1998b. Insecticidal activity and biodegradation of the toxin from *Bacillus thuringiensis* subsp. *kurstaki* bound to humic acids from soil. *Soil. Biochem.* 30, 463-470.

**Daane**, L. L., **Molina**, J. A., **Berry**, E.C., **Sadowsky**, M. J. 1996. Influence on earthworm activity on gene transfer from *Pseudomonas fluorescens* to indigenous soil bacteria. 62, 515-521.

**Davies** J. 1994. Inactivation of antibiotics and the dissemination of resistance genes. *Science* 264, 375-382.

**Davies**, J. 1996. Origins and evolution of antibiotic resistance. *Microbiologia Sem* 12, 9-16.

**Davies**, J. 1997. Origins, acquisition and dissemination of antibiotic resistance determinants. In: Antibiotic Resistance: Origins, Evolution, Selection and Spread. *Ciba Foundation Symposium* 207, S. 15-35, Wiley, Chichester.

Davison, J. 1999. Genetic exchange between bacteria in the environment.

Plasmid 42, 73-91.

**De Vries**, J., **Wackernagel**, W. 1998. Detection of *nptll* (kanamycin resistance) genes in genomes of transgenic plants by marker-rescue transformation. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* 257, 606-613.

**De Vries**, J., **Meier**, P., **Wackernagel**, W. 2001. The natural transformation of the soil bacteria Pseudomonas stutzeri and *Acinetobacter* sp. by transgenic plant DNA strictly depends on homologous sequences in the recipient cells. *FEMS Microb. Lett.* 195, 211-215.

**De Vries**, J., **Wackernagel**, W. 2002. Integration of foreign DNA during natural transformation of *Acinetobacter* sp. by homology-facilitated illegitimate recombination. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 99, 2094-2099.

**Dimock**, M., J. **Turner**, J. **Lampel**. 1993. Endophytic microorganisms for the delivery of genetically engineered microbial pesticides in plants. *In: Advanced engineered pesticides* (Kim, L., Ed.) Marcel Dekker, Inc. New York, USA. pp. 85-97.

**Donegan**, K. K., **Palm**, C. J., **Fieland**, V. J., **Porteous**, L. A., **Ganio**, L. M., **Schaller**, D. L., **Bucao**, L. Q., **Seidler**, R.J. 1995. Changes in levels, species and DNA fingerprints of soil-microorganisms associated with cotton expressing the *Bacilllus thuringiensis* var. *kurstaki* endotoxin. *Appl. Soil Ecol.* 2, 111-124.

**Donegan**, K. K., **Schaller**, D. L., **Stone**, J. K., **Ganio**, L. M., **Reed**, G., **Hamm**, P. B., **Seidler**, R. J. 1996. Microbial populations, fungal species diversity and plant pathogen levels in field plots of potato expressing the *Bacillus thuringiensis* var. *tenebrionis* endotoxin. *Trans. Res.* 5, 25-35.

Doolittle, F. W. 1999. Lateral genomics. Trends Genet. 15, M5-M8.

Doolittle, R. F. 1997. Microbial genomes opened up. Nature 392, 339-342.

**Doolittle**, R. F., **Feng**, D. F., **Anderson**, K. L., Alberro, M. R. 1990. A naturally occurring horizontal gene transfer from a eukaryote to a prokaryote. *J. Mol. Evol.* 31, 383-388.

**Dowson**, C. G., **Barcus**, V., **King**, S., **Pickerill**, P., **Whatmore**, A., **Yeo**, M. 1997. Horizontal gene transfer and the evolution of resistance and virulence determinants in *Streptococcus*. *J. Appl. Microbiol. Suppl.* 83, 42S-51S.

**Dowson**, C. G., **Hutchinson**, A., **Brannigan**, J., **George**, R. C., **Hansman**, D., **Linares**, J., **Tomasz**, A., **Maynard Smith**, J., **Spratt**. B.G. 1989. Horizontal transfer of penicillin binding protein genes in penicillin resistant clinical isolates of *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 86, 8842-8846.

**Dowson**, C.G., **Hutchison**, A., **Woodford**, N., **Johnson**, A. P., **George**, R. C., **Spratt**, B. G. 1990. Penicillin resistant viridans streptococci have obtained altered penicillin binding protein genes from penicillin resistant strains of *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 87, 5858-5862.

**Dröge**, M., **Puhler**, A., **Selbitschka**, W. 1998. Horizontal gene transfer as a biosafety issue: a natural phenomenon of public concern. *J. Biotech*, 64, 75-90. **Dröge**, M., **Puhler**, A., **Selbitschka**, W. 1999. Horizontal gene transfer among bacteria in terrestrial and aquatic habitats as assessed by microcosms and field studies. *Biol. Fertil. Soils* 29, 221-245.

Ehrlich, S.D., Bierne, H., dÀlencon, E. Vilette, D., Petranovic, M., Noirot, P.,

**Michel**, B. 1993. Mechanisms of illegitimate recombination. *Gene* 135, 161-166. **EPA** (Environmental Protection Agency) 1998. Office of Ground Water and Drinking Water. National Primary Drinking Water Regulations. *Technical Fact-sheet on Glyphosate*. EPA, USA.

**EPA**. 2000. Biopesticides registration action document, preliminary risks and benefits section, *Bacillus thuringiensis* plant-pesticides. EPA, Office of Pesticide Programs, Biopesticides and Pollution Prevention Division, USA.

**Faber**, M. J., **Stephenson**, G. R., **Thompson**, D. G. 1997. Persistence and leachability of glufosinate-ammonium in a northern Ontarion terrestrial environment. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 45, 3672-3676.

**Fairbairn**, C., **Scoles**, G., **McHughen**, A. (eds). Proceedings of the 6<sup>th</sup> International Symposium on The Biosafety of Genetically Modified Organisms, Saskatoon, Canada, University Extension Press, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, Canada.

**FDA**. 1998. Guidance for industry: use of antibiotic resistance marker genes in transgenic plants, draft guidance. Sept. 4, 1998. http://vm.cfsan.fda.gov/~dms/opa-armg.html.

**Feil**, E., **Zhou**, J., **Maynard Smith**, J., **Spratt**, B. G. 1996. A comparison of the nucleotide sequences of the *adk* and *recA* genes of pathogenic and commensal *Neisseria* species: evidence for extensive interspecies recombination within *adk*. J. Mol. Evol. 43, 631-640.

Feil, E. J., Holmes, E. C., Bessen, D. E., Chan, M. S., Day, N. P. J., Enright, M. C., Goldstein, R., Hood, D. W., Kalia, A., Moore, C. E., Zhou, J., Spratt, B. G. 2001. Recombination within natural populations of pathogenic bacteria: short-term empirical estimates and long-term phylogenetic consequences. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 98, 182-187.

**Feng**, G. H., **Tsui**, C., **Winkler**, M. E. 1996. Depletion of the cellular amounts of the MutS and MutH methyl-directed mismatch repair proteins in stationary-phase *Escherichia coli* K-12 cells. *J. Bacteriol.* 178, 2388-96.

**Forlani**, C., **Mangiagalli**, A., **Nielsen**, E., **Suardi**, C. M. 1999. Degradation of the phosphanate herbicide glyphosate in soil: evidence for a possible involvement of unculturable microorganisms. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 31, 991-997.

**Froman**, B. E., **Tait**, R. C., **Gottlieb**, L. D. 1989. Isolation and characterisation of the phosphoglucose isomerase gene from *Escherichia coli*. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* 217, 126-131.

**Fry**, J. C., **Day**, M. J. (eds.). 1990. Bacterial genetics in natural environments. Chapman and Hall, London.

**Fry**, J. et al., 2000. Preliminary results presented at the "*Acinetobacter 2000*" symposium in Noordwijkerhout, The Netherlands, 3-6 Sept. 2000.

**Gallori**, E., **Bazzicalupo**, M., **Dal Canto**, L., **Fani**, R., **Nannipieri**, P., **Vettori**, C., **Stotzky**, G. 1994. Transformation of Bacillus subtilis by DNA bound on clay in non-sterile soil. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology* 15, 119-126.

Gard, J. K., Feng, P.C.C., Hutton, W.C. 1997. Nuclear magnetic resonance time course studies of glyphosate metabolism by microbial soil isolates.

Xenobiotica, 27, 633-644.

**Gebhard**, F., **Smalla**, K. 1998. Transformation of *Acinetobacter* sp. strain BD413 by transgenic sugar beet DNA. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 64, 1550-1554.

**Gebhard**, F., **Smalla**, K. 1999. Monitoring field releases of genetically modified sugar beets for persistence of transgenic plant DNA and horizontal gene transfer. *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.* 28, 261-272.

**Ginzburg**, L.R. (ed.) 1991. Assessing ecological risks of biotechnology. Butterworth-Heinemann, Stoneham, MA

**Goodfellow**, M., **Williams**, S. T., **Mordarski**, M. 1988. Actinomycetes in biotechnology. *Academic press*, San Diego.

**Gottlieb**, D. 1976. The production and role of antibiotics in soil. *J. Antibiot.* 29, 987-1000.

**Guttman**, D, S., **Dykhuizen**, D. E. 1994. Clonal divergence in *Escherichia coli* as a result of recombination, not mutation. *Science* 266,1380-83.

**Hall**, B. 1999. Toward an understanding of evolutionary potential. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 178, 1-6.

**Hallas**, L. E., **Adams**, W. J., **Heitkamp**, M. A. 1992. Glyphosate degradation by immobilized bacteria – field studies with industrial waste-water effluent. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 58, 1215-1219.

Hallmann, J., A. Quadt-Hallmann, W. F. Mahaffe, J. W. Kloepper. 1997. Bacterial endophytes in agricultural crops. *Can. J. Microbiol.* 43, 895-914.

Haney, R. L., Senseman, S. A., Hons, F. M., Zuberer, D. A. 2000. Effect of glyphosate on soil microbial activity and biomass. *Weed Sci.* 48, 89-93.

Harding, K. 1996. The potential for horizontal gene transfer within the environment. *Agro Food Industry Hi-Tech.* 7, 31-35.

**Heinemann**, J. 1997. Assessing the risk of interkingdom DNA transfer. pp. 17-28. *In: Nordic seminar on antibiotic resistance marker genes and transgenic plants*, The Norwegian Biotechnology Advisory Board, Oslo. ISBN 82-91683-04-2.

**Heinemann**, J. A. 1991. Genetics of gene transfer between species. *Trends in Genet.* 7, 181-185.

**Heitkamp**, M. A., **Adams**, W. J., **Hallas**, L. E. 1992. Glyphosate degradation by immobilized bacteria – laboratory studies showing feasibility for glyphosate removal from waste-water. *Can. J. Microbiol.* 38, 921-928.

Henscke, R. B., Schmidt, F. R. J. 1990. Screening of soil bacteria for plasmids carrying antibiotic resistance. *Biol. Fertil. Soils* 9, 257-260.

**Herron**, P. R. 1995. Phage ecology and gene exchange in soil. *In: Molecular microbial ecology manual.* (Akkermans, A.D.L., van Elsas, J.D., de Bruijn, F.J. Eds), pp. 5.3.2, 1-12. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands. **Herron**, P. R. **Wellington**, E. M. H. 1990. New methods for the extraction of streptomycete spores from soil and application to the study of lysogeny in sterile amended and non-sterile soil. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 56, 1406-1412.

**Herron**, P. R., **Wellington**, E. M. H. 1994. Population dynamics of phage-host interactions and phage-conversion of streptomyces in soil. *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.* 14, 25-32.

**Hoffmann**, A, **Thimm**, T, **Dröge**, M, **Moore**, E. R. B, **Munch**, J. C, **Tebbe**, C. C. 1998. Intergeneric transfer of conjugative and mobilizable plasmids harbored by *Escherichia coli* in the gut of the soil microarthropod *Folsomia candida* (Collembola). *Appl Environ. Microbiol*, 64, 2652-2659.

**Hofte**, H, **Whiteley**, H. R. 1989. Insecticidal crystal proteins of *Bacillus* thuringiensis. *Microbiol. Rev.* 53, 242-255.

Huddleston, A. S., Cresswell., N., Neves, M. C. P., Beringer, J. E., Baumberg, S., Thomas, D. I., Wellington, E. M. H. 1997. Molecular detection of streptomycin-producing streptomyces in Brazilian soil. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 63, 1288-1297.

**Hugenholz**, P., **Pace**, N. R. 1996. Identifying microbial diversity in the natural environment: a molecular phylogenetic approach. *Trends Biotech.* 14, 190-197. **Hull**, R., **Covey**, S. N., **Dale**, P. 2000. genetically modified plants and the 35S promoter: assessing the risks and enhancing the debate. *Microb. Ecol. Health Dis.* 12, 1-5.

**Jarret**, P, **Stephenson**, M. 1990. Plasmid transfer between strains of *Bacillus* thuringiensis infecting Galleria mellonella and Spodoptera littoralis. Appl. *Environ. Microbiol.* 56, 1608-1614.

Kapur, V., Kanjilal, S., Hamrick, M. R., Li, L-L., Whittam, T. S., Sawyer, S. A., Musser. J. M. 1995. Molecular population genetic analysis of the streptokinase gene of *Streptococcus pyogenes*: mosaic alleles generated by recombination. *Mol. Microbiol.* 16, 509-519.

Kay, E., Vogel, T., Bertolla, F., Nalin, R., Simonet, P. 2002. In situ transfer of antibiotic resistance genes from transgenic (transplastomic) tobacco plants to bacteria. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 68, 3345-3351.

**Kelch**, W. J., **Lee**, J. S. 1978. Antibiotic resistance patterns of gram-negative bacteria isolated from environmental sources. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 36, 450-456.

**Kidambi**, S. P., **Ripp**, S., **Miller**, R. V. 1994. Evidence for phage-mediated gene transfer among *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* strains on the phylloplane. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 60, 496-500.

**Kidwell**, M. G. 1993. Lateral transfer in natural populations of eukaryotes. *Annu. Rev. genet.* 27, 235-256.

Kok, E. J., Noteborn, H. P. J. M., Kuiper, H. A. 1994. Food safety assessment of marker genes in transgenic crops. *Trends Food Sci. Tech.* 5, 294-298.

**Koskella**, J., **Stotzky**, G. 1997. Microbial utilization of free and clay-bound insecticidal toxins from *Bacillus thuringiensis* and their retention of insecticidal activity after incubation with microbes. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 63, 3561-3568. **Kriete**, G, **Broer**, I. 1996. Influence of the herbicide phosphinothricin on growth and nodulation capacity of *Rhizobium meliloti. Appl. Microbiol. Biotech.* 46, 580-586.

**Kroer**, N., **Barkay**, T., **S¢rensen**, S., **Weber**, D. 1998. Effects of root exudates and bacterial metabolic activity on conjugal gene transfer in the rhizosphere of a marsh plant. *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.* 25, 375-384.

142

Kroll, S. J., Wilks, K. E., Farrant, J. L., Langford, P. R. 1998. Natural genetic

exchange between *Haemophilus* and *Neisseria*: intergenetic transfer of chromosomal genes between major human pathogens. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA. 95, 12381-12385.

**Kruse**, H., **Jansson**, J. 1997. The use of antibiotic resistance genes as marker genes in genetically modified organisms. *Norwegian Pollution Control Authority Report* 97:03, Oslo, Norway. ISBN 82-7655-052-5.

Kumar, P. A., Sharma, R. P., Malik, V. S. 1997. The insecticidal proteins of *Bacillus thuringiensis. Adv. Appl. Microbiol.* 42, 1-43.

Lamour, V., Quevillon, S., Diriong, S., N`Guyen, V.C., Lipinski, M., Mirande, M. 1994. Evolution of the Glx-tRNA synthetase family: the glutaminyl enzyme as a case of horizontal gene transfer. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 91, 8670-8674.

Landsmann, J., Casper, R. (Eds.) 1995. Key biosafety aspects of genetically modified organisms. Biologische Bundesanstalt fur Land und Forstwirtschaft, heft 309, Blackwell Wissenschafts Verlag, Berlin.

**LeClerc**, J. E., B. **Li**, W. L. **Payne**, T. A. **Cebula**. 1996. High mutation frequencies among Escherichia coli and Salmonella pathogens. *Science* 274, 1208-1211.

**Lee**, G-H., G. **Stotzky**. 1990. Transformation is a mechanism of gene transfer in soil. Kor. *J. Microbiol.* 28, 210-218.

Lee, G-H., Stotzky, G. 1999. Transformation and survival of donor, recipient, transformants of *Bacillus subtilis* in vitro and in soil. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 31, 1499-1508. Leff, L.G., J. R. Dana, J. V. Mcarthur, L.J. Shimkets, 1993: Detection of Tn5-like sequences in kanamycin-resistant stream bacteria and environmental DNA. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 59, 417-421.

**Lilley**, A. K., **Bailey**, M. J. 1997. The acquisition of indigenous plasmids by a genetically marked population colonizing the sugar beet phytosphere is related to local environmental conditions. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 63, 1577-1583.

**Ljungquist**, S., **Andren**, R., **Fermer**, C. 1998. Antibiotic resistance markers in gene-modified organisms – a risk factor? *Status report on antibiotic resistance markers in genetically modified organisms*, Solna, Draft 1998-09-24. 13pp.

**Lorenz**, M.G., **Wackernagel**, W. 1987. Adsorption of DNA to sand and variables degradation rates of adsorbed DNA. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 53, 2948-2952.

**Lorenz**, M.G., **Wackernagel**, W. 1994. Bacterial gene transfer by natural genetic transformation in the environment. *Microbiol. Rev.* 58, 563-602.

**Lorito**, M., **Scala**, F. 1999. Microbial genes expressed in transgenic plants to improve disease resistance. *J. Plant Pathol.* 81, 73-88.

**Majewski**, J., F. M. **Cohan**. 1998. The effect of mismatch repair and heteroduplex formation on sexual isolation in *Bacillus*. *Genetics* 148, 13-18.

**Majewski**, J., P. **Zawadzki**, P. **Pickerill**, F. M. **Cohan**, C. G. **Dowson**. 2000. Barriers to genetic exchange between bacterial species: *Streptococcus pneumonia* transformation. *J. Bacteriol*. 182, 1016-1023.

**Mallawatantri**, A. P., **McConkey**, B. G., **Mulla**, D. J. 1996. Characterization of pesticide sorption and degradation in macropore linings and soil horizons of thatuna silt loam. *J. Environ. Quality.* 25, 227-235.

Martin, P. A. W., Travers, R. S. 1989. Worldwide abundance and distribution of *Bacillus thuringiensis* isolates. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 55, 2437-2442.

Matic, I., Radman, M., Taddei, F., Picard, B., Doit, C., Bingen, E., Denamur, E., Elion, J. 1997. Highly variable mutation rates in commensal and pathogenic *Escherichia coli. Science* 277, 1833-1834.

**Matic**, I., **Rayssiguier**, C., **Radman**. M. 1995. Interspecies gene exchange in bacteria: the role of SOS and mismatch repair systems in evolution of species. *Cell 80*, 507-515.

Maynard Smith, J., Smith, N.H., O'Rourke, M., Spratt, B. G. 1993. How clonal are bacteria? *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA. 90, 4384-4388.

**McManus**, P. S. 2000. Antibiotic use and microbial resistance in plant agriculture. *ASM News* 66, 448-449.

**Meadows**, M. P. 1993. *Bacillus thuringiensis* in the environment: ecology and risk assessment. In Entwistle, P. F., Cory, J. S., Bailey, M. J. Higgs, S. (eds). *Bacillus thuringiensis, an environmental biopesticide: theory and practice.* John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

**Metz**, P. L. J., J. P. **Nap**. 1997. A transgene-centered approach to the biosafety of transgenic plants: overview of selection and reporter genes. *Acta Bot. Neerl.* 46, 25-50.

**Metz**, P. L. J., **Stiekema**, W, J., **Nap**, J-P. 1998. A transgene-centered approach to the biosafety of transgenic phosphinothricin-tolerant plants. *Mol. Breeding* 4, 335-341.

**Morel**, J. B., **Tepfer**, M. 2000. Pour une evaluation scientifique des risques: le cas du promoteur 35S. *Biofutur*, 201, 32-35.

**Nap**, J-P., **Bijvoet**, J., **Willem**, J. 1992. Biosafety of kanamycin-resistant transgenic plants. *Transgenic Res.* 1, 239-249.

**Nelson**, K., **Selander**, R. K. 1994. Intergeneric transfer and recombination of the 6-phosphogluconate dehydrogenase gene (*gnd*) in enteric bacteria. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 91, 10227-10231.

Neu, H. C. 1992. The crisis in antibiotic resistance. Science 257, 1064-1072.

Nielsen, K. M., M. D. M. van Weerelt, T. N. Berg, A. M. Bones, A. N. Hagler, J. D. van Elsas. 1997a. Natural transformation and availability of transforming DNA to Acinetobacter calcoaceticus in soil microcosms. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 63, 1945-52.

**Nielsen**, K. M., A. M. **Bones**, J. D. **van Elsas** 1997b. Induced natural transformation of *Acinetobacter calcoaceticus* in soil microcosms. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 63, 3972-3977.

**Nielsen**, K. M., F. **Gebhard**, K. **Smalla**, A. M. **Bones**, J. D. **van Elsas** 1997c. Evaluation of possible horizontal gene transfer from transgenic plants to the soil bacterium *Acinetobacter calcoaceticus* BD413. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 95, 815-821.

**Nielsen**, K. M. 1998. Barriers to horizontal gene transfer by natural transformation in soil bacteria. *APMIS Suppl.* 84, 106, 77-84.

**Nielsen**, K. M., A. **Bones**, K. **Smalla**, J. D. **van Elsas**. 1998. Horizontal gene transfer from transgenic plants to terrestrial bacteria - a rare event? *FEMS* 

Microbiol. Rev. 22, 79-103.

**Nielsen**, K. M., K. **Smalla**, J. D. **van Elsas**. 2000a. Natural transformation of Acinetobacter sp. strain BD413 with cell lysates of Acinetobacter sp., *Pseudomonas fluorescens and Burkholderia cepacia* in soil microcosms. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 66, 206-212.

**Nielsen**, K. M., J. D. **van Elsas**, K. **Smalla**. 2000b. Transformation of Acinetobacter sp. BD413(pFG4 $\Delta$ nptII) with transgenic plant DNA in soil microcosms and effects of kanamycin on selection of transformants. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 66, 1237-42.

**Nielsen**, K. M., J. D. **van Elsas**, K. **Smalla**. 2000d. Safety issues in antibiotic resistance marker genes in transgenic crops. *In Piva*, G., Masero, F. (eds). Proceedings of the 6<sup>th</sup> International Feed Production Conference, Piacenza, 27-28 Nov. 2000. pp. 146-162.

**Nielsen**, K. M., **Townsend**, J. 2001. Environmental exposure, horizontal transfer and selection of transgenes in bacterial populations. *In Vurro*, M. et al. (eds), Enhancing biocontrol agents and handling risks, Nato Science series 339, IOS Press, Amsterdam, pp 145-158.

**Nielsen**, K. M., **van Elsas**, J. D. 2001. Stimulatory effects of compounds present in the rhizosphere on natural transformation of *Acinetobacter* sp. BD413 in soil. *Soil. Biol. Biochem.* 33, 345-357.

**Nielsen**, K. M., J. D. **van Elsas**, K. **Smalla**. 2001. Dynamics, horizontal transfer and selection of novel DNA in bacterial populations in the phytosphere of transgenic plants. *Annals of Microbiology* 51, 79-94.

**Normander**, B, **Christensen**, B. B., **Molin**, S., **Kroer**, N. 1998. Effect of bacterial distribution and activity on conjugal gene transfer on the phyllosplane of the bush bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*). *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 64, 1902-1909.

**Novitzky**, J. A. 1986. Degradation of dead microbial biomass in a marine sediment. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 52, 504-509.

**Nygaard**, I. 1983. Utilization of preformed purine bases and nucleosides. In Munch-Pedersen, A. (ed) metabolism of nucleosides and nucleobases in microorganisms. Academic press, London, p. 27-93.

**Ochman**, H., **Lawrence**, J. G., **Groisman**, E. A. 2000. Lateral gene transfer and the nature of bacterial innovation. *Nature* 405, 299-304.

**Ogram**, A., **Mathot**, M. L. **Harsch**, J. B., **Boyle**, J., **Pettigrew**, C. A. 1994. Effects of DNA polymer length on its absorption to soils. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 60, 393-396.

**Ogram**, A., **Sayler**, G. S., **Gustin**, D., **Lewis**, R. J. 1988. DNA Adsorption to Soils and Sediments. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 22, 982-984.

**Oliveira**, R. D. **Wolters**, A. C., **van Elsas**, J. D. 1995. Effects of antibiotics in soil on the population dynamics of transposon Tn5 carrying *Pseudomonas fluorescens*. *Plant Soil* 175, 323-333.

**Pace**, N. R. 1997. A molecular view of microbial diversity and the biosphere. *Science* 276, 734-740.

Paget E, Jocteur, Monrozier, L., Simonet, P. 1992. Adsorption of DNA on clay

minerals: protection against DNase I and influence on gene transfer. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 97, 31-40.

**Paget**, E., **Lebrun**, M., **Freyssinet**, G., **Simonet**, P. 1998. The fate of recombinant plant DNA in soil. *Eur. J. Soil. Biol.* 34, 81-88.

**Paget**, E., **Simonet**, P. 1994. On the track of natural transformation in soil. *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.* 15, 109-118.

**Paget**, E., **Simonet**, P. 1997. Development of engineered genomic DNA to monitor the natural transformation of *Pseudomonas stutzeri* in soil-like microcosms. *Can. J. Microbiol.* 43, 78-84.

**Palm**, C. J., **Schaller**, D. L., **Donegan**, K. K., **Seidler**, R. J. 1996. Persistence in soil of the transgenic plant produced *Bacillus thuringiensis* var. *kurstaki* delta-endotoxin. *Can. J. Microbiol.* 42, 1258-1262.

**Palmen**, R. **Hellingwerf**, K. J. 1997. Uptake and processing of DNA by Acinetobacter calcoaceticus - a review. Gene 192, 179-190.

**Prudhomme**, M., **Libante**, V., **Claverys**, J. P. 2002. Homologous recombination at the border: insertion-deletions and the trapping of foreign DNA in Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Proc. natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 99, 2100-2105.

**Quinn**, J. P., **Heron**, J. K., **McMullan**, G. 1993. Glufosinate tolerance and utilization by soil and aquatic bacteria. *Biol. Environ. Proc. Royal Irish Acad.* 93B, 181-186.

**Rayssiguier**, C., **Thaler**, D.S., **Radman**, M. 1989. The barrier to recombination between *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella typhimurium* is disrupted in mismatch repair mutants. *Nature* 342, 396-401.

**Ream**, **Berberich**, **Sims**, **Rogan**, **Fuchs**, R. 1992. In planta distribution and environmental fate of insect resistant proteins. *Plant Physiol. Suppl.* 99, 80.

**Reanney**, D. C. **Ackermann**, H. W. 1982. Comparative biology and evolution of bacteriophages. *Adv. Virus Res.* 27, 205-280.

**Recorbet**, G., **Givaudan**, A., **Steinberg**, C. **Bally**, R., **Normand**, P., **Faurie**, G. 1992. Tn5 to assess soil fate of genetically marked bacteria: screening for aminoglycoside-resistance advantage and labelling specificity. *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.* 86, 187-194.

**Redenbaugh**, K., **Hiatt**, W. **Martineau**, B., **Lindemann**, J., **Emaly**, D. 1994. Aminoglycoside 3'-phosphotransferase II (APH(3')II): review of its safety and use in the production of genetically engineered plants. *Food Biotech*. 8, 137-165.

**Romanowski**, G, **Lorenz**, M. G., **Sayler**, G., **Wackernagel**, W. 1992. Persistence of free plasmid DNA in soil monitored by various methods, including a transformation assay. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 58, 3012-3019.

**Romanowski**, G., **Lorenz**, M. G. and **Wackernagel**, W. 1993. Use of polymerase chain reaction and electroporation of *Escherichia coli* to monitor the persistence of extracellular plasmid DNA introduced into natural soils. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 59, 3438-3446.

**Romanowski**, G., **Lorenz**, M. G., **Wackernagel**, W. 1991. Adsorption of plasmid DNA to mineral surfaces and protection against DNase I. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 57, 1057-1061.

**Rosenberg**, S. M., **Harris**, R. S., **Longerich**, S., **Galloway**, A. M. 1996. Recombinationdependent mutation in non-dividing cells. *Mut. Research* 350, 69-76.

**Rueppel**, M. L, **Brightwell**, B. B, **Schaefer**, J, **Marvel**, J. T. 1977. Metabolism and degradation of glyphosate in soil and water. *J. Agric. Food. Chem.* 25, 517-28

**Sandvang**, D., **Aarestrup**, F. M. 2000. Characterization of amionglycoside resistance genes and class 1 integrons in porcine and bovine gentamycin-resistant *Escherichia coli*. *Microbial Drug Res. Mech. Epidemiol. Dis.* 6, 19-27.

**Saxena**, D., **Flores**, S., **Stotzky**, G. 2000. Transgenic plants – Insecticidal toxin in root exudates from Bt corn. *Nature* 402, 480.

**Saxena**, D., **Stotzky**, G. 2000. Insecticidal toxin from *Bacillus thuringiensis* is released from roots of transgenic Bt corn in vitro and situ. *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.* 33, 35-39.

**Saye**, D, J., **Ogunseitan**, O., **Sayler**, G. S., **Miller**, R.V. 1987. Potential for transduction of plasmids in natural freshwater environment: effect of plasmid donor concentration and a natural microbial community on transduction in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *App. Environ. Microbiol.* 53, 987-995

**Schlimme**, W., **Marchiani**, M., **Hanselmann**, K., **Jenni**, B. 1997. Gene transfer between bacteria within digestive vacuoles of protozoa. *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.* 23, 239-247.

**Schlüter**, K., **Fütterer**, J., **Potrykus**, I. 1995. "Horizontal" gene transfer from a transgenic potato line to a bacterial pathogen (*Erwinia chrysanthemi*) occurs- if at all- at an extremely low frequency. *Bio/technology* 13, 1094-1098.

**Schlüter**, K., **Potrykus**, I. 1996. Horizontaler gentransfer von transgenen pflanzen zu mikroorganismen (bakterien und pilzen) und seine ökologische relevanz. pp. 159-193. (Schulte, E., Kappeli, O., Eds.), Gentechnisch veränderte krankheits- und schädlingsresistente nutzplantzen. Band I, *Schwerpunktprogramm Biotechnologie des Schweizerischen Nationalfonds*, Bern.

**Schmidt**, E.R., **Hankeln**, T. (eds.). 1996. Transgenic organisms and biosafety, horizontal gene transfer, stability of DNA and expression of transgenes. *Springer Verlag*, Heidelberg.

**Schmidt**, F. R. J., **Rosien**, J., **Brokamp**, A. 1990. The role of soil bacteria in risk assessment analysis. *In: Bacterial genetics in natural environments* (Fry, J. C., Day M. J., Eds.), pp. 207-215. Chapman and Hall, London.

**Schoelz**, J.E., **Bourgue**, J. E. 1999. Plant pararetroviruses (Caulimoviridae). *In Encyclopedia of virology*. Granoff, A., Webster, R. B. (eds). Academic press, San Diego, pp. 1275-1281.

**Schrott**, M, 1995. Selectable marker and reporter genes. *In: Gene transfer to plants - a laboratory manual* (Potrykus, I. and Spangenberg G., Eds.), pp. 325-336. Springer Verlag, Berlin.

**Sikorski**, J., **Graupner**, S., **Lorenz**, M. G., **Wackernagel**, W. 1998. Natural genetic transformation of *Pseudomonas Stutzeri* in a non-sterile soil. *Microbiology* 144, 569-576.

**Sims**, S. R., **Holden**, L. R. 1996. Insect biosassay for determining soil degradation of *Bacillus thuringiensis* subsp. *kurstaki* (cry1ab) protein in corn

tissues. Environ. Entomol. 25, 659-664.

**Smalla**, K, 1995. Horizontal gene transfer from transgenic plants into plant associated microorganisms and soil microorganisms. *In: Proceedings of the. Basel forum of biosafety; Safety of transgenic crops, Environmental and agricultural considerations.* pp. 29-34. BATS, Agency for biosafety research and assessment of technology impacts of the Swiss priority programme biotechnology, Basel.

**Smalla**, K, **Gebhard**, F., **van Elsas**, J.D. **Matzk**, A., **Schiemann**, J. 1994. Bacterial communities influenced by transgenic plants. In: Proceedings of the 3rd international symposium on the biosafety results of field tests of genetically modified plants and microorganisms (Jones D.D., Ed.), pp. 157-167. University of California, Oakland.

Smalla, K., Borin, S., Heuer, H., Gebhard, F., van Elsas, J. D., Kaare M. Nielsen. 2000. Horizontal gene transfer from transgenic plants to bacteria – are there new data to fuel the debate? In Fairbairn, C., Scoles, G., McHughen, A. (eds). Proceedings of the 6<sup>th</sup> International Symposium on The Biosafety of Genetically Modified Organisms, Saskatoon, Canada, University Extension Press, University of Saskatchewan, pp. 146-154.

**Smalla**, K., L. S. **van Overbeek**, R. **Pukall**, J. D. **van Elsas**. 1993. Prevalence of *nptll* and Tn5 in kanamycin resistant bacteria from different environments. *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.* 13, 47-58.

**Smalla**, K., **Wellington**, E., **van Elsas**, J.D. 1997. Natural background of bacterial antibiotic resistance genes in the environment. pp. 43-57. *In: Nordic seminar on antibiotic resistance marker genes and transgenic plants*, The Norwegian Biotechnology Advisory Board, Oslo. ISBN 82-91683-04-2.

Smith, M. W., Feng, D.-F., Doolittle, R. F. 1992. Evolution by acquisition: the case for horizontal gene transfer. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 17, 489-493.

**Spratt**, B. G., **Bowler**, L.D., **Zhang**, Q-Y., **Zhou**, J., **Maynard Smith**, J. 1992. Role of interspecies transfer of chromosomal genes in the evolution of penicillin resistance in pathogenic and commensal *Neisseria* species. *J. Mol. Evol.* 34, 115-125.

**Spratt**, B. G., **Zhang**, Q-Y. **Jones**, D. M., **Hutchison**, A., **Brannigan**, J. A., **Dowson**, C. G. 1989. Recruitment of a penicillin binding protein gene from *Neisseria flavescens* during the emergence of penicillin resistance in *Neisseria meningitis*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 86, 8988-8992.

**Stirn**, S. 2000. Antibiotic resistance and horizontal gene transfer. *Biogum/GTZ*, Germany.

**Stotzky**, G. 2000a. Persistence and biological activity in soil of insecticidal proteins from *Bacillus thuringiensis* and of bacterial DNA bound on clays and humic acids. *J. Environ. Quality.* 29, 691-705.

**Stotzky**, G. 2000b. Workshop on Ecological monitoring of genetically modified crops, National Research Council. Washington, D.C. July 13-14, 2000.

**Streips**, U. N. 1991. Transformation. *In: Modern bacterial genetics* (Streips, U. N., Yasbin R. E., Eds.), pp. 191-216. Wiley-Liss, Inc. New York.

**Syvanen**, M. 1994. Horizontal gene transfer: evidence and possible consequences. *Annu. Rev. Genet.* 28, 237-261

Taddei, F., M. Radman, J. Maynard-Smith, B. Toupance, P. H. Gouyon, B. Godelle. Role of mutator alleles in adaptive evolution. *Nature* 387, 700-702.

**Taddei**, F., **Matic**, I., **Radman**, M. 1995. cAMP-dependent SOS induction and mutagenesis in resting bacterial populations. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 92, 11736-40.

**Tapp**, H, **Stotzky**, G. 1995. Insecticidal activity of the toxins from *Bacillus thuringiensis* subsp. *kurstaki* and *tenebrionis* adsorbed and bound on pure and soil clays. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 61, 602-609.

**Tebbe**, C. C. **Reber**, H. H. 1988. Utilization of the herbicide phosphinothricin as a nitrogen source by soil bacteria. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 29, 103-105.

**Tebbe**, C. C. **Reber**, H. H. 1991. Degradation of (C-14) phosphinothricin (glufosinate) in soil under laboratory conditions - effects of concentration and soil amendments on Co-14(2) production. *Biol. Fertil. Soils.* 11, 62-67.

**Thimm**, T, **Hoffmann**, A, **Borkott**, H, **Munch**, J. C., **Tebbe**, C. C. 1998. The gut of the soil microarthropod *Folsomia candida* (Collembola) is a frequently changeable but selective habitat and a vector for microorganisms *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 64, 2660-2669.

**Thomashow**, L. S., **Weller**, D. M., **Bonsall**, R. F., **Pierson III**, L. S. 1990. Production of the antibiotic phenazine-1-carboxylic acid by fluorescent *Pseudomonas* species in the rhizosphere of wheat. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 56, 908-912.

Thompson, C. J., Movva, N. R., Tizard, R., Crameri, R., Davies, J. E., Lauwereys, M., Botterman, J. 1987. Characterization of the herbicide-resistance gene bar from Streptococcus hygroscopicus. EMBO J. 6, 2519-2523.
Tiedje, J. M., Colwell, R. K., Grossman, Y. F., Hodson, R. E., Lenski, R. E., Mack, R. N., Regal, P. J. 1989. The planned introduction of genetically engineered organisms: ecological considerations and recommendations. *Ecology* 70, 298-315.
Tomlinson, J. A., 1987. Epidemiology and control of vegetable diseases. Ann. Appl. Biol. 110, 661-681.

**Townsend**, J. P., **Nielsen**, K. M., **Fisher**, D. S., **Hartl**, D. L. 2003. Horizontal acquisition of divergent chromosomal DNA in bacteria : effects of mutator phenotypes. *Genetics* (in press).

**Toyota**, K., **Kimura**, M. 2000. Microbial community indigenous o the earthworm *Eisenia foetida. Biol. Fertil. Soils.* 31, 187-190.

**Trevors**, J. T., J. D. **van Elsas**. 1995. Nucleic acids in the environment. *Springer Verlag*, Berlin-Heidelberg.

**Troxler**, J., **Azelvandre**, P., **Zala**, M., **Defago**, G., **Haas**, D. 1997. Conjugative transfer of chromosomal genes between fluorescent *Pseudomonads* in the rhizosphere of wheat. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 63, 213-19.

**Tzotzos**, G. T., (Ed.), 1995. Genetically modified organisms, a guide to biosafety. UNIDO, ICGEB, CAB International.

van Dijck, P., van de Voorde, H. 1976. Sensitivity of environmental

microorganisms to antimicrobial agents. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 31, 332-336. **van Elsas**, J. D. 1992. Environmental pressure imposed on GEMMOS in soil *In: The release of genetically modified microorganisms* (Stewart-Tull, D. E. S. and Sussman, M., Eds.), pp. 1-14. Plenum Press, New York.

**van Elsas**, J. D., K. **Smalla**. 1995. Antibiotic (kanamycin and streptomycin) resistance traits in the environment. *In: Key biosafety aspects of genetically modified organisms* (Landsmann, J., Casper, R., Eds.), pp. 61-69. Heft 309, Biologische Bundesanstalt für Land und Forstwirtschaft, Blackwell Wissenschafts-Verlag, Berlin.

**van Elsas**, J. D., **Pereira**, M. T. 1986. Occurrence of antibiotic resistance among bacilli in Brazilian soils and the possible involvement of resistance plasmids. *Plant and Soil* 94, 213-226.

**van Elsas**, J. D., **Trevors**, J., **Starodub**, M. E. 1988. Bacterial conjugation between pseudomonads in the rhizosphere of wheat. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology* 53, 299-306.

**Veal**, D.A., **Stokes**, H. W., **Daggard**, G. 1992. Genetic exchange in natural microbial communities. *Adv. Microb. Ecol.* 12, 383-430.

**Venkateswerlu**, G.,. **Stotzky**, G. 1992. Binding of the protoxin and toxin proteins of *Bacillus thuringiensis* subsp. *kurstaki* on clay minerals in soil. *Curr. Microbiol.* 25, 225-233.

**Vulic**, M., F. **Dionisio**, F. **Taddei**, M. **Radman**. 1997. Molecular keys to speciation: DNA polymorphism and the control of gene exchange in enterobacteria. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 94, 9763-9767.

Wellington, E. M. H., Marsch, P., Toth, I., Cresswell, N., Huddleston, L., Schilhabel, M. B. 1993. The selective effects of antibiotics in soil. *In: Trends in Microbial Ecology* (Guerrero, R., Pedros-Alio, C. Eds.), pp. 331-336. Spanish Society for Microbiology, Barcelona, Spain.

**Wellington**, E. M. H., **van Elsas**, J. D. (eds.). 1992. Genetic interactions among microorganisms in the natural environment. *Pergamon Press*, Oxford.

Widmer, F., R. J. Seidler, K. K. Donegan, G. L Reed. 1997. Quantification of transgenic marker gene persistence in the field. *Mol. Ecol.* 6, 1-7.

Widmer, F., R. J. Seidler, L. S. Watrud. 1996. Sensitive detection of transgenic plant marker gene persistence in soil microcosms. *Mol. Ecol.* 5, 603-13.

Williams, H. G., Day, M. J., Fry, J. C., Stewart, G. J. 1996. Natural transformation in river epilithon. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 62, 2994-2998.

**Witte**, W. 1998. Medical consequences of antibiotic use in agriculture. *Science* 279, 996-997.

Wöhrmann, K., Tomiuk, J. (eds.). 1993. Transgenic Organisms. *Birkhauser Verlag*, Basel.

Wörth, L., Clark, S., Radman, M., Modrich, P. 1994. Mismatch repair proteins MutS and MutL inhibit RecA-catalyzed strand transfer between diverged DNAs. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA. 91, 3238-3241.

**Wöstemayer**, J., **Wöstemayer**, A., **Voigt**, K. 1997. Horizontal gene transfer in the rhizosphere, a curiosity or a driving force in evolution? *Adv. Bot. Res. Incorp.* 

Adv. In Plant Pathol. 24, 399-429.

**WSSA** (Weed Science Society of America). 1994. *Herbicide handbook*. 7th Ed. pp. 147-149.

**Yin**, X., **Stotzky**, G. 1997. Gene transfer among bacteria in natural environments. *Adv. Appl. Microbiol.* 45, 153-212.

**Zaranyika**, M. F., **Nyandoro**, M. G. 1993. Degradation of glyphosate in the aquatic environment – an enzymatic kinetic- model that takes into account microbial degradation of both free and collodial or sediment) particle adsorbed glyphosate. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 41, 838-842.

**Zawadazki**, P., **Cohan**, F. M. 1995a. The size and continuity of DNA segments integrated in *Bacillus* transformation. *Genetics* 141, 1231-1243.

**Zawadazki**, P., **Roberts**, M. S., **Cohen**, F. M. 1995b. The log-linear relationship between sexual isolation and sequence divergence in *Bacillus* transformation is robust. *Genetics* 140, 917-32.

**Zeph**, L. R., **Onaga**, M. A., **Stotzky**, G. 1988. Transduction of *Escherichia coli* by bacteriophage P1 in soil. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 54, 1731-1737.

**Zhou**, J., **Bowler**, L. D., **Spratt**. B. G. 1997. Interspecies recombination, phylogenetic distortions, within the glutamine synthetase and shikimate dehydrogenase genes of *Neisseria meningitis* and commensal *Neisseria* species. *Mol. Microbiol.* 23, 799-812.

**Zobinska**, E., **Lejczak**, B., **Kafarski**, P. 1992. Organophosphanate utilization by the wild-type strain of *Pseudomonas fluorescens*. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 58, 2993-2999.